
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Thursday, 8 November 2018 at 11.00 am 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room - County Hall 

Contact: Miss C Tuohy (0116 305 5483). 

Email: cat.tuohy@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 

Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 
Dr. P. Bremner CC 

Mr. Max Hunt CC 
 

Mr. J. Morgan CC 
Mr J. Poland CC 
Mrs. J. Richards CC 
Mrs B. Seaton CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 11 October 
2018.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 10) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

6.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

16.  
 

7.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Risk Based Management Approach.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 11 - 34) 

 There will be a presentation for this item. 
 

 

9.  
  

Update on the Implementation of the Revised 
Funding Methodology for Community 
Transport.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 35 - 46) 

10.  
  

Annual Performance Report 2017/18.  
 

Chief Executive 
and Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 47 - 68) 

11.  
  

The Development of a Unitary Structure for 
Local Government in Leicestershire.  
 

Chief Executive  
 
 

(Pages 69 - 114) 

 A copy of the report submitted to the Cabinet at its meeting on 16 
October 2018 and the relevant Appendix (Appendix E) are attached. 
The Committee is invited to comment on the proposals. The views of 
the Committee will be reported to the Scrutiny Commission at its 
meeting on 14 November 2018. 
 

 

12.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on 17 
January 2019 at 2pm. 
 
 

 

13.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

 
QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  The 
following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point for 
developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 
 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held at County Hall, Glenfield on Thursday, 11 October 2018.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. A. E. Pearson CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 
Mr. Max Hunt CC 
Mr. J. Coxon CC 
Mrs. H. Fryer CC 
 

Mr J. Poland CC 
Mr. J. Morgan CC 
Mr. T. Parton CC 
Mr. D. Gamble CC 
 

 
In attendance. 
 
Mr. B. Pain CC, Cabinet Lead Member for Environment and Transport. 
Mrs. C. Radford CC, Cabinet Support Member for Environment and Transport. 
 

114. Minutes.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 6 September 2018 were taken as read, confirmed 
and signed.  
 

115. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

116. Questions asked by members.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

117. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

118. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Mr Pain CC declared a personal interest with regard to item 8 on the agenda, 
‘Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy’ as relatives owned a local taxi 
company.  
 
Mr. Coxon CC declared a disclosable pecuniary interest with regard to item 9 on 
the agenda, ‘HS2 Phase 2b’, as an owner of land affected by HS2 and he 
undertook to leave the meeting during consideration of this item.  
 

5 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

119. Declarations of the Party Whip.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

120. Presentation of Petitions.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that one petition had been received under Standing Order 
36. 
 
Barbara Johnson presented the following petition, signed by 2850 local residents:  
 
“Market Harborough is the only town in the District with a population of around 24,000 
and growing. Vital facilities and businesses in the centre are well over 800m away from 
the many residents’ homes. We, the undersigned, Market Harborough residents petition 
the Leicestershire County Council to understand the special nature of this town, and to 
retain the town’s present bus arrangements after June 2019, to ensure accessibility for all 
residents, together with the benefits of connectivity, sustainable travel and support for the 
present thriving local economy.” 
 
The Director of Environment and Transport responded that the draft PTPS was not about 
specific services. Comments received and representations made would be noted. Should 
the route require review as a result of the new policy and strategy, if adopted, then the 
comments and petition now presented would be taken into consideration at that time. 
 

121. Draft Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport 
concerning Draft Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy. A copy of the report, marked 
“Agenda Item 8” is filed with these minutes.  
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were raised: 
 
i) All current contracts for subsidised services had been extended to June 2019 to 

allow for the new Policy and Strategy to be in place and implemented. 

ii) Leicestershire County Council could only assess current demand for transport, as 
a robust evidence base was needed. When new developments were proposed 
there would be an assessment of passenger transport needs in relation to that 
development as part of the planning process. 

iii) Concerns were raised that over 77% of respondents felt the draft policy would 
make it harder for them to access essential services. However, it was clarified that 
people agreed with the priority groupings and priority activities identified, but 
disagreed that an alternative solution could be anything other than a bus service. 

iv) Demand Responsive Transport (DRT) represented a far more cost effective 
solution than operating and paying for a scheduled bus, which on some occasions 
may carry few or no passengers. The Council recognised more work needed to be 
done to promote the benefits and increase the awareness and understanding of 
DRT; hence £145,000 was being put into resources to help with the transition in 
the areas that would be affected.  

v) The draft PTPS did not consider “Leisure” as a priority journey; however this did 
not preclude those users from accessing such services via DRT. 

6



 
 

 

vi)   Currently a major piece of work was underway to refresh the County Council’s 
Section 106 policy.  The County Council had to look to the regulations governing 
Section 106 Developer Contributions. Where such contributions had been sought, 
for instance transport for a new development, if that development was then 
serviced by a commercial bus operator, the S106 monies would need to be 
refunded. 

 
vii)  Some Bus Pass users had  indicated they would be willing to pay towards their 

concessionary fare.  However, there was no mechanism for the County Council to 
facilitate this. The only way for these users to contribute would be for those people 
to pay the full fare. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the comments of the Committee be forwarded to the Cabinet for consideration at its 
meeting on 16 October 2018, and that the Cabinet be advised that the majority of the 
Committee supported  the draft Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy. (Members of 
the Labour and Liberal Democrat Group expressed concern at the level of savings 
required of this area of service.) 
 

122. HS2 Mitigation.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport 
concerning HS2 Mitigation. A copy of the report, marked “Agenda Item 9” is filed with 
these minutes.  
 
It was noted that as of 11th October the Government had published the Working Draft 
Environmental Statement for consultation on HS2 Phase 2b. The consultation would 
close on 21st December. 
 
Members noted the comments that had been tabled by Local Member Mr Sheahan CC 
and supported his suggestion that the Director of Environment and Transport should 
engage with the relevant Local Members when responding to any consultation by HS2. 
 
Arising from the discussion was as follows: 
 

i) The impacts on the County would not just be restricted to transport. In 2023, 
construction would begin and could take up to eight years. This would have 
implications for departments such as public health, education and social services. 

 
ii) Option 3 was recognised as a high cost. Experience from other councils had 

shown that investment was necessary to both minimise the impact and get the 
financial support for mitigation measures for the communities affected. In 
Buckinghamshire and Warwickshire, the councils had been successful in obtaining 
approximately £1 million per kilometre of rail to support mitigation.   

 
iii) Route 4, an alternative proposal through Measham, which would avoid Ashby 

Canal was with the Secretary of State for decision. The Working Draft 
Environmental Statement which is out for consultation concerns the preferred 
route and does not include this alternative route. 

 

7



 
 

 

iv) Warwickshire’s team had been in place for around seven years. Over that time the 
focus had changed depending on the phase. The County Council would employ 
staff on a permanent basis. 

 
v) Some Members were sceptical over whether HS2 would go ahead. Officers 

advised that the Department for Transport and HS2 were working on the basis that 
the project would go ahead but if that were to change the County Council would 
review its current approach. 

 
RESOLVED 
 

a) That the comments of the Committee be forwarded to the Cabinet for 
consideration at its meeting on 16 October 2018, and that  

 
b) That the Committee recommends, that part 2(e) be amended to read as follows: 

 
“The Director of Environment and Transport, following consultation with the Lead Member 
for Environment and Transport and subject to engagement with the relevant local 
members, be authorised to respond on behalf of the Council to HS2 requests and 
consultations.” 
 

123. Review of Winter Maintenance.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport 
concerning the Review of Winter Maintenance. A copy of the report, marked “Agenda 
Item 10” is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion the following points were raised: 
 

i) 47% of the network, consisting of all P1 and P2 routes were gritted. This was an 
increase on the previous year (45%) due to anomalies, new developments and 
other slight alterations that had been made to the routes. Further optimisation of 
these routes would be looked into; 

 
ii) Three new gritters had been purchased for the forthcoming season to increase the 

size of the Council’s fleet and six of the current fleet had been refurbished. One of 
these would be available for viewing on the morning of  5th December outside 
County Hall when an information session for members on winter maintenance was 
planned. 

 
iii) Once salt bins were purchased by Parish Councils from the County Council they 

would be refilled free of charge for life; refills would be documented to ensure the 
system was not being abused. Schools could also purchase salt bins through the 
County Council’s Property Services; 

 
iv) The County Council had weather stations throughout the County measuring the 

temperature of the carriageway surface to determine if gritting would be required 
that night and for which geographic areas of the county. 

 
v) The County Council was keen to expand the Snow Warden scheme, further 

information would be sent out to Parish and Town Councils and to Members, 
 

8



 
 

 

vi) A rock salt premix with Safecoat was currently being used by the County Council. 
The Council would be going out for procurement for rock salt in the next year; one 
of the specifications of the procurement  would be for it to be ‘treated’ rock salt to 
ensure it functioned with current  equipment.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

124. Street Lighting - Operational Review.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport 
concerning the Street Lighting Transformation Project and the part-night lighting initiative 
operating across the County. A copy of the report, marked “Agenda Item 11” is filed with 
these minutes.  
 
Arising from the discussion was as follows: 
 

i) The Council’s LED lights were a white light source containing elements of both 
blue and yellow light and complied with all industry standards, there was no 
evidence that these lights caused any health problems. 

 
ii) The Central Management System connected to each lantern, enabling the remote 

switching on and off and dimming and trimming to maximise energy savings whilst 
ensuring appropriate lighting levels for communities.  

 
iii) If a community or the Police requested lights to be switched on through the night in 

an area discussions would be held with the Police to consider the need and full 
night lighting may be restored for a trial period. Members were informed that, in 
some cases, the Police requested that the County Council switch off lights earlier 
in certain areas in order to discourage anti-social behaviour. After a spate of crime 
in Oadby, lights had been switched back on temporarily, this would be continued 
until the end of the year. The Council would then liaise with Leicestershire Police 
to consider the next steps forward. This was welcomed by Members. 

 
iv) Cheaper technology meant that the changes to street lighting could be put into 

place far more economically than when it had originally been proposed, allowing 
the County Council to buy equipment at the best price and accelerate the LED 
Street Lighting Transformation project; 

 
 
v) Members highlighted that many people would not know what “50% lighting” would 

look like. Officers would consider if there was a way to demonstrate this to 
Members. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 

9



 
 

 

125. Leicestershire Recycling and Residual Waste Performance Report.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport 
concerning Leicestershire Recycling and Residual Waste. A copy of the report, marked 
“Agenda Item 12” is filed with these minutes.  
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i) The decline in Leicestershire’s recycling performance was attributable to a number 
of complex factors, a number of which were outside the Council’s control.  It did 
not necessarily mean residents were doing less; industry ‘light weighting’ trends 
meant waste weighed less, affecting recorded figures. 

 
ii) Work was underway by district councils to ensure there was a coordinated single 

published kerbside recycling specification for all districts that use the County 
contract, so that they could more clearly inform residents as to what could be 
recycled. 

 
iii) Currently all rigid plastics were being sent to landfill as there was no cost effective 

market for them. Officers were always considering other ways to deal with those 
materials. 

 
iv) Further clarification was expected later in the year from the Government when it 

publishes its Resources and Waste Strategy, at that point it could be appropriate 
to revisit the current Joint Municipal Waste Strategy. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

126. Date of next meeting.  
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on 8 November at 
11am. 
 
 

 CHAIRMAN 
11 October 2018 

 

10



1 

 

 

 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTE 

 

Risk Based Approach to Highway 

Asset Management 

 

8 NOVEMBER 2018 

11
A

genda Item
 8



2 

The Purpose of the Presentation 

 To raise awareness of the new Code of Practice and what this 

means for Leicestershire County Council. 

 

 Appreciate the basic principles of risk management and what a 

‘risk based approach’ means in practice along with some key steps 

that need to be taken. 

 

 Gain an awareness of the positive and negative aspects of the new 

code 

 

 To provide an update on the progress of the development and 

implementation of a risk based approach to Highway Asset 

Management. 

 
 

 

12



3 

The new Code of Practice 

 The UK Roads Liaison Group (UKRLG) launched 

an update to its Code of Practice which takes an 

integrated, risk based approach to managing 

highway infrastructure assets.  

 

 The Code 'Well-managed Highway Infrastructure' 

was published on 28 October 2016 and set a 

deadline of 28th October 2018 for authorities to 

adopt a risk based approach. 
 

Key themes: 

 Requested by Local Authorities 

 Applies across the United Kingdom 

 Develops a risk based approach 

 Supports local needs & priorities 

 

13



4 

Structure of the Code 

 

Asset Information 
8. Information Management 
9. Network Inventory 
10. Asset Data Management* 
11. Asset Management 
Systems* 
12. Network Hierarchy 
17. Condition Surveys 
18. Management Systems & 
Claims 

Asset Management 
Decision Making 
28. Financial Plans 
29. Lifecycle Plans* 
30. Cross Asset Priorities 
31. Works Programming* 
32. Carbon 
33. Consistency with Character 
34. Heritage Assets 
35. Environmental Impact 

 

Risk & Review 
4. Engaging & Communicating 
with Stakeholders* 
7. Risk Based Approach 
14. Risk Management* 
16. Inspections 
19. Defect Repair 
20. Resilient Network 
21. Climate Change Adaption 
23. Emergency Plans 
25. Learning from Events 
27. Performance Monitoring* 

 

Organisation & People 
5. Consistency with other 
Authorities 
15. Competencies & Training* 

 

Lifecycle Delivery 
13. Whole Life/Designing for 
Maintenance 
22. Drainage Maintenance 
36. Minimising Clutter 

 

 

Strategy & Planning 
1. Use of the Code 
2. AM Framework* 
3. AM Policy & Strategy* 
6. Integrated Network 
24. Communications 
26. Performance 
Management Framework* 
 

14



5 

What is a risk? 

A risk can be defined as an uncertain event, which, should it 

occur, will have an effect on the desired performance of an 

asset or series of assets. It consists of a combination of the 

likelihood of a perceived threat or opportunity occurring, and the 

magnitude of its impact on the objectives, where: 

 

 Threat is used to describe an uncertain event that could have a 

negative impact on the levels of service; and 

 

 Opportunity is used to describe an uncertain event that could 

have a favourable impact on the levels of service. 

 

15



6 

Why do we need to Manage Risk? 
16



7 

Risk Based Approach 

 Process which aims to help organisations understand, evaluate 

and take action on all their risks with a view to increasing the 

probability of success and reducing the likelihood of failure 

 

 How you evidence your Risk Based Approach will be very 

important 

 

 There will be challenges around the decision making – “why?” 

 

 There is a need for consistency with other authorities and within 

your own organisation 

 

17



8 

Categories of Risk 

Highway Asset Risks 
 Safety 

 Service reduction or failure 

 Asset loss or damage 

 Environmental 

 Operational 

 Financial 

 Reputation 

18



9 

Operational 
Delivery 

(ISO 9001) 

Commissioning 
Framework 
(ISO 55001) 

Asset 
Intervention Type 

E&T Policy 

Corporate Policy & 
Vision 

Single Outcome 
Framework  and 

 (Strategic Growth Plan) 

Local 
Transport 

Plan 3 

Highway Maintenance 
Policy & Strategy 

Third Party 
New & 

Improved 

HDM 

Technical Approval via 
DCO, S38/S278/ S6/S8 

etc. and  Inspection 

LCC 
New & 

Improved 

MTFS: Commissioning Strategy  (Schemes and Programmes) 

Project/Programme 
Management 

Capital Maintenance , 
Major Schemes, Local 
Safety Schemes, S106 

Maintain 
Existing 

Levels of Service 
(Including enhanced) 

 

Reactive/Cyclic 
Maintenance 

Network Management 
Policy & Strategy 

Others... 

Policy Framework 
19



10 

Risk Based Approach - Implementation 

 Asset Integrity Risks 

 - Risk registers held and updated 

 - Capital Improvements prioritised (current funding) 

 - Long term need identified (Bids and future ask) 

 Safety Risks 

 - Levels of Service (Cyclic & Reactive)   

         e.g. gulley emptying /pothole repair 

 - Inspection  

  1. Maintenance Hierarchy 

  2. Site specific Local Risk Assessment 

 Corporate/Reputational Risk 

 - Enhanced Levels of Service (Cyclic and Reactive) 

  

  

 

20



11 

Risk Based Approach 

Documented and based upon: 
 

 the establishment of a Maintenance Hierarchy and Levels of 

Service with appropriate funding; 

 

 the implementation of agreed levels of service as part of the 

Safety Inspection process; 

 

 the competency required in development and implementation of 

the risk-based approach; and 

 

 regular evidence-based reviews. 

 

21



12 

Network Hierarchy 

 Asset Reference Category Inspection 

Carriageway 2 Strategic routes 1 month 

3a Main distributors 1 month 

3b Secondary distributors 1 month 

4a Locally important routes 3 months 

4b All other metalled roads 1 year 

Footway 1a Prestige 1 month 

1 Main shopping 1 month 

2 Local shopping 3 months 

3 Link 6 months 

4 Local access 1 year 

Cycleway A Part of carriageway As c’way 

B Remote from carriageway 6 months 

C Cycle trails 1 year 

22



13 

 
What The New Code Says 
 
RECOMMENDATION 12 – NETWORK HIERARCHY  
 ‘A network hierarchy, or a series of related hierarchies, should be 

defined which include all elements of the highway network, 

including carriageways, footways, cycle routes, structures, lighting 

and rights of way. The hierarchy should take into account current 

and expected use, resilience, and local economic and social 

factors such as industry, schools, hospitals and similar, as well as 

the desirability of continuity and of a consistent approach for 

walking and cycling.’ 

 

 Network (or Maintenance) hierarchy needs to take more 

than traditional road classifications into account 

23



14 

Move to a Maintenance Hierarchy 

When developing a new Maintenance Hierarchy 

you need to take into account; 
 

 Use: traffic levels, bus routes, strategic diversion routes etc. 

 Reactive maintenance activities 

 Routine (cyclic maintenance activities) 

 Investment planning (value management/capital programme 

development) 

 Resilient network (access to critical assets, core services, 

vulnerable people, for emergency services, key economic sites, 

routes with difficult diversions, trunk road diversions) 

All roads will have a Maintenance Hierarchy 

24



15 

Safety Inspection - Frequency 

Frequencies for safety inspections of individual 

network sections or individual assets should be 

based upon consideration of: 
 category within the maintenance hierarchy; 

 type of asset, e.g. carriageway, footway, embankment, cutting, 

structure, electrical apparatus, etc; 

 critical assets; 

 consequence of failure; 

 characteristics of adjoining networks elements; 

 the approach of adjoining Highway Authorities; and 

 wider policy or operational considerations. 

 

25



16 

Safety Inspection - Should Include 

 All defects observed that provide a risk to users should be     

recorded. 

 

 Any item with a defect level which corresponds to, or is in excess 

of, the defect investigatory level adopted by the authority is to be 

assessed for likely risk. 

 

 The level (speed) of response determined on the basis of a 

network wide risk assessment using impact and hierarchy 

(likelihood). 

 

 On-site judgement (local risk assessment) will always need to 

take account of particular circumstances e.g. pedestrian 

crossings, shops and vulnerable users. 

 

26



17 

Levels of Service 

The introduction of the new Code of Practice means there 

are no default standards for: 

 Defects 

 Response and repair timeframes 

 

It is all about the Risk Based Approach – RBA 

 New Levels of Service will use the type of defect (impact) and 

assess against the maintenance hierarchy of the network 

(likelihood) to give a resulting priority repair time – the starting 

point for all safety inspections 

   

  

 

27



18 

Levels of Service development 

 Every defect is categorised with an Impact e.g. 40mm pothole 

could be high 

 This is then assessed against the Likelihood (probability) of it 

causing a hazard which is different for different roads 

 This table therefore determines the priority (response time) for 

repair 
 

 
     

  

IMPACT Very low Low Medium High

Negligible

Low

Noticeable

High

PROBABILITY

Priority 1 - make safe (usually 2 hours)

Priority 2 - complete within 4 days

Priority 3 - complete within 28 days

Priority 4 - complete as part of wider programme

No actionable defect

Local 
Authority 
Decision 

28



19 

Levels of Service Document Overview 

Feature Reference Category Current 
Inspection 
Frequency 

Carriageways 2 Strategic Routes 1 Month 

3 (a) Main Distributors 1 Month 

3 (b) Secondary Distributors 1 Month 

4 (a) Locally Important Roads 3 Month 

4 (b) All Other Metalled Roads 1 Year 

 Appendix:    Enhanced Services 

 (1) Grass Cutting over and above safety and encroachment etc. 

 (2) Winter Maintenance (see above) 

 Reactive:     e.g. Carriageway inspections - will be detailed for all assets 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

NB:1 is Trunk Road 

 Cyclic:          e.g. Winter: Minimum Network 

 - Include all P1 + any resilient network 

 - Include some P2 the remainder will be an Enhanced Service 

29



20 

Reactive maintenance - LOS examples 

 

 

 

 

30



21 

Reactive maintenance - LOS examples 

 

 

31



22 

Cyclic maintenance – LOS Example 

Gulley Emptying – Risk Based Changes 

The risk is that a gulley is full of silt and flooding 

occurs; so they are emptied on a cyclic basis 

Trial carried out in Harborough District to look at silt 

levels when routinely emptied. 

Evidence gathered to show which gulleys have the 

most silt and which have very little. 

New frequencies of 10 months, 24 months and 36 

months now being used for the cyclic maintenance 

service based on how quickly the silt collects. 

32



23 

Key Milestones 

 

 
Code of Practice Activities  Senior 

Management/Members 

 
November 1st 2018 
- Levels of Service - Published 

on Member’s Hub & Website 
This will be a public facing 
document showing Level of 
Service that the public can expect 
and we can monitor performance 
against. 

 
- Risk Adoption Statement 
- Maintenance Hierarchy 
- Inspectors using new Form so 

risks can be documented and 
defects can be prioritised 
according to risk 

- Revised Skid Resistance 
Policy 
 

April 1st 2019:  
- Inspection Routes Reviewed 

and Documented 

 
September 11th 2018 
Risk Based Approach to Highway 
Inspections workshop with Andy 
Warrington (Atkins) 
 
September 19th 2018 
DFT Workshop - Well Managed 
Highway Infrastructure Code of 
Practice and Risk Based Approach 
 
November 2018 – October 2019 
Working groups will review: 
- Digital networks 
- Methods of inspection 
- Further development of 

operational processes as part of 
the ISO Quality Assurance 
Systems 

 
September 6th 
Director’s Briefing 
 
September 18th 
Lead Member 
 
September 27th 
All Member Briefing 
 
November 8th 
Scrutiny 
 
Spring/Summer 2019 
Further Member briefings as RBA 
develops 
 

33



24 

Looking Forward 

 

 Inspection Routes will be reviewed, highlighting the road class, speed limit 

and traffic volume for the Inspectors. This will allow a lower class of road to be 

upgraded where traffic flow is higher and there is potentially a higher risk. 

 

 The RBA will allow better management of the number of Highway defects 

raised by our Highways Inspectors. The number of Urgent or High priority (not 

Emergency) defects being identified in low risk areas of the network is likely to 

reduce allowing more efficient delivery of the overall service. 

 

 Asset Management process reviews being undertaken alongside a more 

comprehensive data set will allow better, evidence led decisions on funding 

allocations; directing resource where it is most needed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

34



 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – 8 NOVEMBER 2018 

 
UPDATE ON THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE REVISED FUNDING 

METHODOLOGY FOR COMMUNITY TRANSPORT  
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 
 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of the report is to further update the Committee on the 

implementation of the revised funding methodology for Community Transport, 
2018/19. Grant amounts are detailed in Appendix A.   

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
2. Community Transport is provided as alternative passenger transport for residents 

with disabilities or restricted mobility which mean they cannot use conventional bus 
services and for residents in areas where conventional bus services are not 
available. 

 
3. New funding levels for Community Transport grants were agreed by Cabinet at its 

meeting on 11 December 2015. 
 
Background 

 
4. Built into the 2014/15 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), was a saving from 

a Service Review of the Sustainable Transport Group to deliver £150,000 in 
2015/16 and a further £150,000 in 2016/17.  Part of this saving was identified as a 
£50,000 saving from Community Transport funding levels.  

 
5. A review of the funding of Community Transport (CT) identified that the levels of 

funding varied across the County, having grown on an ad hoc basis. A consultation 
on the funding model was undertaken in summer 2015 and Cabinet agreed the 
funding model in December 2015. The funding model is based on the population 
served by each operator (33% of the total funding) and the passengers carried per 
annum (67% of the total funding). A rural operation weighting of 10% (top-sliced 
from the total funding) is shared amongst the five operators within the three 
districts with the highest number of rural super output areas. The model also 
requires operators to reduce their management costs to a maximum of 25% in 
2016/17, 20% in 2017/18 and 15% from 2018/19 onwards.  

35 Agenda Item 9



6. A phased approach to changes with upper and lower funding limits was applied to 
ensure that in 2016/17, no one operator was more than 10% better off or 10% 
worse off, based on the funding allocation for the financial year 2014/15. In 
2017/18, no operator should be more than 20% better or worse off based on the 
funding allocation for 2014/15. The figures have been adjusted to allow for the 
declining level of total grant funding in 2016/17 and 2017/18. It is still planned to 
remove the upper and lower funding limits in 2019/20, so that grant funding will 
then reflect the reality of transport provision for each operator. 

 
2017/18 Funding and Usage 
 
7. Grant funding of £509,000 was allocated to the operators for the provision of CT 

for the financial year 2017/18 (representing a £25,000 reduction of funding from 
the previous financial year – the remaining 50% of the £50,000 MTFS budget 
saving). The grant amounts for 2017/18 are detailed in Appendix A, along with 
reported usage figures. No payment was made to the Shree Ram project in 
2017/18 as the service was stopped by them. 

 
2018/19 Funding and Usage 

8. Grant funding of £512,000 is allocated to the operators for the provision of CT for 
the financial year 2018/19. The grant amounts are detailed in Appendix A, along 
with reported passenger usage figures for 2017/18. It should be noted that the 
grant has not had an inflationary increase in the last 3 years although the Shree 
Ram funding has been redistributed amongst the remaining providers in 2018/19.  

 
9. The patronage element of the funding allocation for 2017/18 was based on the 

total number of single passenger trips reported by the operators during 2015, the 
same as the funding in 2016/17 and 2017/18. Due to continued problems with 
some data integrity the funding allocation for 2018/19 has again been based on 
the original patronage based on the 2015 report as there are still some questions 
over the integrity of some of the data submitted which would affect the grant 
allocation of all the CT providers. Further work is ongoing to establish that all CT 
data is accurate before calculating the funding allocations for 2019/20 which will be 
concluded by the end of December 2018. Notification of grant funding for 2019/20 
will be advised to CT operators in early January 2019. 

 

10. The Grant Agreements sent to operators require operators to report usage figures. 
A short guide on best practice in recording passenger figures was produced for 
operators to ensure that usage figures are being recorded correctly. An audit 
towards the end of the year will be undertaken if there are continuing concerns 
around passenger journey recording. The audit will focus on whether the journeys 
recorded are eligible journeys in relation to the purpose of the scheme and 
whether these have been recorded accurately. Journeys related to group 
bookings, bookings made for community groups and journeys provided for 
passengers outside of a CT’s agreed area are not eligible journeys. Almost all the 
CT providers use a system called flexi route to record data and this will be 

36



examined to ensure all passenger journey reports are consistent across the CT 
providers.   

 

11. Operators must state their management costs as part of the Grant Agreement. 
Management costs are to reduce as required by the Cabinet decision on 
continuing funding. This is reported alongside passenger usage figures on a 
quarterly basis and will be subject to an audit towards the end of the year. CT 
Operators have asked for further guidance on what should be included within 
management costs. We will be issuing further guidance with the 2019/20 grant 
awards which will reiterate that only the management cost associated with the 
delivery of transport should be included. 

 
Feedback from Operators and Passengers 
 
12. The operators have been consulted, through the Leicestershire Community 

Transport Federation meetings, throughout the development of the Grant 
Agreement for the provision of CT services since the 2016/17 financial year. Their 
views are included in Appendix B. The major concerns are listed below:- 
 
a) Future uncertainty regarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCGs) 

funding for Section 256 (transport to hospital appointments); 
b) shortage of volunteer drivers to meet demand; 
c) decreasing CT grants against rising inflation, wages and fuel costs, etc.; and 

the threat this places on the sustainability of the CT’s services 
d) concerns about the methodology of CT grant funding and whether this is a fair 

method of dividing the grant amongst the CT operators. 
e) CT’s feel that there is a lack of recognition from the Council of the social value 

placed on the services provided by the CT’s and the actual cost this transport 
would cost the Council if delivered commercially  

 
13. The delivery of solutions for points b) to d) is mainly for the CT providers as the 

Cabinet decision was clear as to CTs receiving grants based on population and 
usage. Clearly the recruitment and retention of volunteers is also for the CT 
providers but it is recognised that the available pool of volunteers is finite. Some 
CT providers choose to pay drivers rather than reimburse their expenses which 
can be considered but this will increase the cost per passenger journey reported in 
Appendix A. 
 

14. Passenger user feedback is monitored through the quarterly Leicestershire 
Community Transport Federation meetings where CT operators were able to 
feedback comments from users; no negative end user feedback has been reported 
by the operators and the Council has not received any other complaints through 
the Customer Service Centre or online via its website. 

 

15. Comments have been raised about how rural journeys come at a higher cost to 
provide but this is not reflected effectively in the grant methodology. The Cabinet 
recognised this when considering the revised grant methodology and three CT 

37



providers were allocated more funding where their rural weighting indicated this 
was required. 

 
Health Journeys and CCG Funding  
 
16. At the beginning of 2017/18, the CCGs provided £63,206 of Section 256 funding to 

the Council for the provision of transport to hospital appointments for 
Leicestershire residents who have difficulty in accessing conventional public 
transport. Nine of the thirteen operators are in a position to provide Section 256 
trips. In the third quarter of 2016/17, the operators began to report Section 256 
health related trips and CT trips separately. From the figures provided it would 
suggest that the number of Health Journeys provided rose by 11% to 11,275 in 
2017/18. 

 
17. The funding amount provided by the CCGs for the period April 2018 to March 2019 

is £63,206. This amount has been unchanged for a number of years. 
 

18. As requested by this committee, as a result of last year’s update report on 22nd 
June, the CCGs have been contacted about an increase in their grant to reflect the 
increase in passenger numbers making health journeys. The CCGs are in the 
process of reviewing all of its external funding, including CT Health transport and 
this review has not yet reached a conclusion but it has been made clear to the 
CCGs that health journeys will cease to be offered if health funding ends.  

 
Conclusions 

 
19. In summary, the review of funding for Community Transport providers confirms 

that the following has been achieved:- 
 
a) The required savings of the MTFS have been made and embedded into grant 

payments to Community Transport providers; 
b) discussions are ongoing with the CCG to establish a longer term grant 

agreement for health journeys; 
c) no negative implications for service users or providers have been reported; 
d) an increase of 1% in passenger journeys has been recorded in 2017-18; 
e) work continues with operators to support, as well as improve, data collection 

and provide passenger feedback; and, 
f) further work is required in relation to the grant funding methodology and clarity 

around what is included in management costs for 2019/20; this will be advised 
to CT operators in early January 2019. 

 
Recommendation 
 
20. The Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to 

note the content of this report. 
 

 

38



Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers, Director of Environment and Transport 
Telephone:  (0116) 305 7000 
Email:   Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk 
 
Ian Vears, Assistant Director Highways and Transport 
Telephone: (0116) 305 7966 
E-mail: Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk  
 

Background Papers 
 
22 June 2017 - Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 
‘Update on the Implementation of the Revised Funding Methodology for Community 
Transport Provision’ 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=5118&Ver=4  
 
11 December 2015 – Cabinet – ‘Outcome of Consultation on Community Transport 
Funding’ http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4233&Ver=4  
 
9 July 2015 - Cabinet – ‘Community Transport’ 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4438&Ver=4  
 

Relevant Impact Assessments 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment was attached to the Cabinet report 
in December 2016 at Appendix E – 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4608&Ver=4  
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – 2018/19 Grant Amounts 
Appendix B – Community Transport Operators Feedback 
 
 
  

39

mailto:Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=5118&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4233&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4438&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4608&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



 

APPENDIX A 
 

2018/19 Grant Amounts 
2017/18 Grant Payments and Passenger Journeys 
 

 

2
0
1
6

/1
7
 G

ra
n

t 

P
a
y
m

e
n

ts
 

2
0
1
6

/1
7
 P

a
s
s
e
n

g
e
r 

J
o

u
rn

e
y

s
 

2
0
1
6

/1
7
 C

o
s
t 

p
e
r 

p
a
s
s
e
n

g
e

r 
jo

u
rn

e
y

 

2
0
1
7

/1
8
 G

ra
n

t 

P
a
y
m

e
n

ts
 

2
0
1
7

/1
8

 P
a

s
s
e
n

g
e
r 

 

J
o

u
rn

e
y

s
 

2
0
1
7

/1
8
 C

o
s
t 

p
e
r 

p
a
s
s
e
n

g
e

r 
jo

u
rn

e
y

 

 

2
0
1
8

/1
9
 G

ra
n

t 

P
a
y
m

e
n

ts
 

Braunstone Town Minibus 16384 4715 £3.57 16725 5228 £3.20 

 

17012 

COMMbus 11622 6120 £1.90 12597 5810 £2.17 

 

14149 

Blaby CAP 58032 6959 £8.34 51249 6493 £7.89 

 

46495 

Shepshed Community Bus 19107 No data No data 16874 1638 £10.30 

 

15308 

Syston Volunteer Centre 30838 8531 £3.61 27234 7780 £3.50 

 

25348 

John Storer Charnwood 61675 15884 £3.88 61106 16892 £3.62 

 

62155 

Lutterworth CT 48251 10472 £4.61 47938 9205 £5.21 

 

48761 

VA South Leics 42035 4590 £9.16 37122 5489 £6.76 

 

36118 

Hinckley & Bosworth CT 44859 14529 £3.09 48620 12328 £3.94 

 

54611 

Melton CT 50567 8582 £5.89 44657 8364 £5.34 

 

42645 

Marlene Reid CT 56590 23979 £2.36 61334 28230 £2.17 

 

68892 

Castle Donington VC 40089 8812 £4.55 39829 8870 £4.49 

 

40513 

Oadby & Wigston CAP 49500 7601 £6.51 43715 7194 £6.08 

 

39994 

Shree Ram 7000 n/a n/a nil n/a n/a 

 

0 

Total/Average 537000 120774 £4.24 509000 123521 £4.12 

 

512001 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

41



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 

Feedback from Community Transport Operators 
October 2018 

 Without the funding from LCC we would not be able to provide our Dial a ride 
Service and this would greatly impact elderly and disabled people living in our 
area that rely on our service to ensure they can access important services and 
have social contact helping their physical and mental health. 

 Problems not being able to attract enough volunteer drivers to meet the demand  

 The constant cancellation of hospital journeys and other journeys which does not 
help our funding when we are funding on number of journeys and population. 

 Resolution of ‘58’ bus service, as it is currently running on a 12 month ‘stay of 
execution’. 

 Hospital parking (for CT volunteers) a better solution / provision of spaces etc.?! 

 Hospital trips, increasing referrals, short notice / cancellations = disruptive to 
business (+ associated cost / effect on resource) 

 The provision of/ increase of the LCC grant funding is essential to the /medium 
long future. We have no management costs or drivers’ wages so no scope for 
any cost reduction. All our staff are volunteers. 

 We have 3 bespoke minibuses, all modern and fully paid for; achieved thru tight 
fiscal control and many past/present fund raising achievements over 26 + years 
of providing vital community transport services exclusively to the elderly and 
disabled. The vehicles’ depreciation alone is way in excess of our current annual 
LCC grant. Maintenance costs and insurances are several thousand pounds p.a. 
This puts us in a totally different operating league to social car schemes. 

 Our passengers are people who cannot use public bus services, even where they 
still exist. Despite having access to government free bus passes they have to pay 
full fares to use community transport. There is something fundamentally unfair 
that those in most need have to pay for transport services when other more-abled 
seniors can enjoy fare free. 

 Our services are vital in providing social inclusion/wellbeing, and undoubtedly 
make a positive contribution to supporting/delaying their involvement with other 
health related agencies. 

 In addition to our main trips to local shopping venues, for passengers to obtain 
their essential needs, we also take individuals to lunch clubs and senior citizen 
clubs and periodic full day trips farther afield to positively impact their wellbeing 
and feeling of self-worth.  All these services play a very important part in 
enhancing their quality of life.   

 For over 2 years now we have provided our services to 3 additional 
communities/villages not allowed for in the current calculation distribution of the 

43



APPENDIX B 

LCC grant cake. Additional mileage adversely impacts all our bus 
running/depreciation costs and should be a factor in the disbursement of grant 
funding. 

 As with most charities we are finding that our overall funding is being cut year on 
year but our costs are consistently increasing. We are fighting an ever increasing 
battle to balance cost against service trying not to refuse journeys through lack of 
drivers or vehicles. 

 As a charity we have not increased our prices to our clients in the last five years, 
we have introduced a £5.00 a year membership to try to offset some of the cuts 
being made by the  County Council but in general we still charge the same as we 
did in 2013. Over that time we have seen our membership increase year on year, 
just this year in the first six months we have had a 25% increase in the number of 
people joining our service. We have not taken on any more staff or significantly 
increased our drivers but have worked longer and harder and asked much, much, 
more of our volunteers. 

 Volunteer groups are being seen more and more these days as a resource that 
local governments can make use of as an alternative to council services but at a 
much lower cost, if the volunteer transport sector suddenly stopped providing 
services the cost to local government would be tremendous and unsustainable. 
Local government, County Councils and Local Councils need to understand that 
if the volunteer sector is to be used to support their own services then the level of 
investment needs to be commensurate with the amount of support needed. 

 We as most charities feel a responsibility to our local community to help and 
provide whatever services we can, we have cost for staff, vehicles, fuel and 
buildings costs that we have to find month on month. If the current lack of funding 
continues in the direction it is then we will see charities closing and councils 
having to find resource to support their client base. 

 I would ask that the County Council take a good long hard look at what the 
transport charities within Leicestershire actually do and the level of service that 
they provide and then look again at the consequences of losing that service 
through lack of funding. 

 We are being asked to do more and more for the ever increasing ageing 
population, even although our funding is being reduced. For example, many bus 
routes around the county are being reduced or cut and Community Transport 
Schemes are looked upon to provide services for people who no longer have 
access to buses.   

 Increased usage of the scheme also impact on the administration, however, 
funding restrictions don’t allow for an increase in hours for office based staff or 
paid driver hours. 

 Melton Borough is quite a rural borough so many drivers claim a substantial 
amount of dead mileage, which is not always covered by the fares that we 
receive from passengers. The rurality also impacts on the time it takes to do jobs 
and therefore the statistics for passenger journeys. A volunteer may only do one 

44



APPENDIX B 

job in a day as opposed to a city based Scheme who can do shuttle runs 
therefore their passenger journeys will inevitably be higher. 

 We have struggled for the last few years to recruit volunteer drivers as people are 
having to work longer. Also, petrol prices being high continue to be a reason 
many people are put off becoming a volunteer driver.  

 VASL provides Community Transport in 2/3 of Harborough District; we have a 
team of 50 volunteers – contributing over 17,079 hours of volunteering from April 
2017 to March 2018, as well as using their own vehicles to transport customers to 
various destinations without charge for purchase, wear and tear, insurance etc. If 
these hours were based on the current minimum wage of £7.83 (25+) this would 
equate to 17,079 hours x £7.83 =  £133,728.57  

 We will have to seriously consider cuts to opening hours and access to the 
service with the reduced funding.  We will not be able to support the number of 
volunteer drivers which will result in a considerable drop in the number of clients 
we can help. 

 CAP provides Community Transport Services for 2 areas in the county of 
Leicestershire – Blaby District and Oadby & Wigston with a team of 40 volunteers 
– contributing over 300 hours of volunteering a week, as well as using their own 
vehicles to transport customers to various destinations without charge for 
purchase, wear and tear, insurance etc. If these hours were based on the current 
minimum wage of £7.83 (25+) this would equate to 300hours x 48 weeks of the 
year = 14400 hours x £7.83 =  £112,752.00  

 Drivers’ journeys are coordinated to include both areas to reduce the number of 
dead miles and to maximise the drivers volunteering hours and cost 
efficiency.  This has generated some issues with recording the journeys on our 
Flexi route system; however the team are looking into this.  I can confirm the 
Oadby & Wigston figures are wrong for Q1 18-19 and will significantly increase to 
reflect the work we have completed. 

 The impact of volunteering isn’t easy to quantify, but many volunteers state an 
increase in self-confidence, a chance to socialise, a sense of well-being. 

 There is no doubt the service is challenging to deliver -  Last minute bookings, 
cancellations, sickness means the process is always fluid.  A solid staff team help 
to manage and absorb some of the frustrations and to ensure a professional 
service to customers and a first class volunteering experience.   

 We pride ourselves on being inclusive and fundraise to keep our three fleet, 
wheelchair accessible, vehicles on the road – this is challenging and with 
increases in insurance premiums, fuel, repair costs and servicing will remain a 
serious concern for the future of the service.   Maintaining a fleet to a high 
standards means periods of time when the vehicles are off  the road for service 
etc. and training.   

 At Community Action Partnership we pride ourselves on going the extra mile, 
taking in shopping, waiting at a destination and offer a bespoke service tailored to 

45



APPENDIX B 

the individual’s needs.  This is a quote from a regular customer ‘Thank you for 
your continued service, I am finding it hard now to get into vehicles, and your 
drivers are kind and helpful and I am grateful to be able to get out still 

 The service clearly makes a huge difference to many older/vulnerable/disabled 
people and also supports local economies through transport to the area and 
income spent in the area, as well as providing an opportunity for volunteers to 
give back to the community and  feel valued.   

 

46



 

 
 

 
ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE – 8 NOVEMBER 2018 
 

ENVIRONMENT  AND TRANSPORT ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 
2017/18  

 
JOINT REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND DIRECTOR OF 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT  
 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Environment and Transport Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee with an Annual Performance update of the Environment and 
Transport Department for 2017/18. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The updates in this report reflect progress against the new environment and transport 

performance framework including the Strategic Outcomes Framework within the new 
Strategic Plan and the departments’ high level plans.   
 

Background 
 
3. This report includes Appendix A, containing two performance dashboards and 

commentary on the Environment and Transport Department’s key priorities and 
progress against the Council’s Strategic Plan outcomes. The first dashboard 
summarises Highways and Transport performance and the second summarises 
Environment and Waste performance. The indicators included are a mixture of 
national and locally-developed performance indicators. Where it is available, the 
dashboards indicate which quartile Leicestershire’s performance falls into. The 1st 
quartile is defined as performance that falls within the top 25% of two-tier county 
areas (the best). The 4th quartile is defined as performance that falls within the 
bottom 25% of two-tier county areas (the worst). The data reported is for the year 
end 2017/18. Appendix B includes the draft performance summaries for Environment 
and Transport during 2017/18, which will form part of the Council’s Annual Report 
2017/18. 
 

4. Overall, there are 22 performance indicators in the Environment and Transport 
performance dashboards which are aligned with the Council’s Strategic Outcomes.   

 
  

47 Agenda Item 10



 

Performance Update – Annual Report 2017/18 
 
5. The Annual Report dashboard shows performance for the Environment and 

Transport department for 2017/18. The dashboards in Appendix A show the 
indicator: the quartile position; the direct of travel of performance; end of year data; 
target/standard; the previous end of year data; polarity and commentary. 
 

6. Improvement or deterioration in performance is indicated by the direction of the 
arrows on the dashboard. Where a direction of travel is available: 10 show 
improvements, 6 had declined, 5 remained the same as the previous year. The 
Council is in the top quartile (1) for ‘Overall satisfaction with the condition of 
highways’, ‘Satisfaction with cycle routes/lanes & facilities’, ‘Total casualties on our 
roads’, and ‘People killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents’. The Council is 
in the bottom quartile (4) for ‘Number of bus journeys’ and ‘Total household waste 
per household’. 

 
Highways and Transport 
 
7. The following Highways and Transport indicators support the transport section of the 

‘Strong Economy’ Outcome, dashboard 1 in Appendix A, with the exception of the 
two road causalities indicators that support the ‘Keeping People Safe’ outcome. 
 

8. There was little change in the annual ‘average vehicle speeds during the morning 
peak (7am-10am) on locally managed ‘A’ roads in Leicestershire’ indicator, which 
remained at 31mph, exceeding its 30mph target. This indicator is in the 2nd quartile 
compared to other English two tier County Councils. Average vehicle speeds are 
used as a proxy measure for peak time congestion. Tackling congestion continues to 
be a priority, with a number of road schemes progressing to help alleviate it. 
 

9. Satisfaction with traffic levels and congestion is derived from the National Highways 
and Transport Network (NHT) satisfaction survey. The NHT Public Satisfaction 
Survey collects public perspectives on, and satisfaction with, Highway and Transport 
Services in Local Authority areas. Satisfaction with traffic levels has remained at 37% 
(2017/18), which is a continuation of the static longer term trend. This indicator is in 
the 2nd quartile compared to other English two tier County Councils, 11th out of 31 
participants. 

 
10. Businesses perceptions of congestion in the County are gathered in the Leicester 

and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP) business survey. The Business 
Survey itself is a telephone survey of over 1,000 businesses. It provides a snap shot 
evidence base of the local business landscape. The percentage of employers who 
perceived a reduction in congestion would significantly benefit them declined from 
37% (LLEP Business survey 2015) to 28% (LLEP Business survey 2017), showing 
an improvement in performance for this indicator. 

 
11. Despite a variety of initiatives to reduce ‘Total CO2 emissions in the Local Authority 

area originating from road transport’ emissions increased from 1820 kilotonnes in 
2015 to 1878 kilotonnes in 2016. The 2016 figure is 4.6% above the target of 1,797. 
The council’s emissions per capita comparisons with other English two tier County 
Councils shows the Council is in the 2nd quartile. 

 

48



 

12. Leicestershire has some of the best maintained roads in the country and the 
highways and transport service was the highest rated county council for road 
condition in the national Highways and Transport Network Public Satisfaction survey 
in 2017. The percentage of the classified road network where structural maintenance 
should be considered remained at 2% during 2017/18 and has met its 6% target. In 
March, the department reported it had fixed around 6,000 potholes over the past 12 
months. After the cold winter extra effort went into fixing the problems caused by 
freezing water expanding and damaging the road surface. The Council agreed in 
February to put an additional £600k per year into fixing potholes, tackling flooding 
hotspots, repairing signs and relining roads. In May 2018, Cabinet agreed additional 
investment of £5m over 2 years for highways maintenance from returns generated 
from the Corporate Asset Investment Fund, in response to the adverse weather and 
its impact on the condition of the network. 

 
13. In 2017/18, the Council gritted all of its priority routes 1 and 2 (which covered 45% of 

the network). The 21 gritters and drivers successfully gritted these entire routes using 
20,000 tonnes of salt across 115,740 miles of road. The Council completed 1,256 
night runs, a 41% increase on the previous year reflecting the most challenging 
conditions in recent years. The Council also recognises the valuable work provided 
by local farmers and snow wardens in helping keep our network clear and supporting 
the local community.   

 
14. The latest update for ‘Overall satisfaction with the condition of our roads,’ derived 

from the National Highways and Transport Network (NHT) Survey Report 2017 was 
39.5% during 2017/18 similar to the previous year (40%) and achieved its 38% 
target. Leicestershire is ranked 1st (the best) among comparative counties and 
remains in the top quartile compared to other two-tier County Council areas. 

 
15. Despite missing its target of 47%, ‘Satisfaction with cycle/routes and facilities’ (41.8% 

2017/18) improved slightly since last year (40.9%) and is in the top quartile compared 
to other two-tier County Council areas. The Council actively encouraged more people 
to cycle more during 2017 through its Bikeability and Bike fest events. 

 
16. Annual performance for the ‘Number of bus passenger journeys’ decreased from 

13.78m (million) in 2016/17 to 13.22m in 2017/18 and missed its interim target of 
13.6m. This mirrors the national trend of declining bus patronage. However, this 
indicator it is in the bottom quartile when comparing bus passenger journeys per 
head (20.18) to other English county councils. Over the year, there have been a 
number of registration changes to the commercial network involving route changes or 
service reductions which are impacting upon the passenger journey figures. Our NHT 
Survey Report 2017 reported that 61% of survey participants were satisfied with bus 
services overall.  

 
17. The following road safety indicators in this section support the Councils ‘Keeping 

people safe’ outcome, within dashboard 1 in Appendix A. 
 
18. ‘Total casualties on our roads’ improved in performance following a significant 

decline from 1,705 in 2016/17 to 1,194 in 2017/18. This has met the interim target of 
fewer than 1,638 casualties. Changes to police reporting procedures need to be 
taken into account and the data should be treated with caution due to the possibility 
of underreporting of accidents. Council officers and Leicestershire Police are working 
together to determine how a change in Leicestershire’s Police policy has affected the 

49



 

accuracy of reported collisions. The Council is in the top quartile compared to other 
two-tier County Council areas. 

 
19. The number of people killed or seriously injured on our roads improved in 

performance, due to a decline in the number of casualties from 225 2016/17 to 213 in 
2017/18. Despite this improved performance, the latest data remains off track for the 
target of fewer than 178. The Council is in the top quartile compared to other two-tier 
County Council areas. 

 
Environment and Waste  
 
20. The following waste performance indicators support the Councils ‘Great 

Communities’ outcome with the exception of the two Leicestershire County Council 
(LCC) waste indicators which support the ‘Corporate Enabler’ outcome, as identified 
in dashboard 2 of Appendix A. 

 
21. ‘The total household waste per household’ improved in performance, evidenced by a 

slight fall in waste from 1,094kg to 1,051kg and achieved its target of fewer than 
1,104kg. Despite this Leicestershire’s performance is in the fourth quartile (lowest) 
compared to other two tier county councils. Leicestershire’s result for 2017/18 is 10kg 
below the bottom quartile threshold of 1041kg, and 31kg below the median result of 
1020kg. Analysis of the 2016/17 results (and other national research) shows a 
correlation between prosperity and waste per household, with higher prosperity levels 
linked to higher levels of waste. Leicestershire is relatively prosperous compared to 
the two tier counties (ranked 6th of 27), which may be a contributing factor. 

 
22. The proportion of household waste sent by local authorities across Leicestershire for 

reuse, recycling or composting’ declined in performance from 49.7% in 2016/17 to 
45.8% in 2017/18 and has missed its statutory 50% target. Compared to other two-
tier county council areas, Leicestershire is in the second quartile. The reasons behind 
the declining performance include national issues, seasonal fluctuations in garden 
waste and the impacts of the economy, as well as issues specific to Leicestershire, 
such as the closure of the Cotesbach Mechanical Biological Treatment plant (MBT) 
and were reported to Committee on 11 October. In combination, these factors have 
led to a large decrease in performance. The majority of the factors identified are 
beyond the control of Leicestershire County Council limiting the opportunity to 
mitigate the impacts. It is hoped however that future arrangements to divert additional 
waste from landfill to treatment will also help improve municipal waste to landfill 
performance figures. The authority is in the process of negotiating an increase in the 
amount of waste delivered to alternative disposal points, which would reduce the 
amount of waste sent to landfill in future years. 

 
23. The percentage of municipal waste sent to landfill declined in performance as waste 

landfilled increased from 29.9% (2016/17) to 33.6% (2017/18) and has missed its 
30% target. It has not met the target as a result of the loss of alternative (non-landfill) 
disposal points, which is outside of the Council’s control as previously described. 
Leicestershire is in the third quartile for this indicator compared to other two tier 
county councils.   

 
24. The ‘tonnes of waste produced from LCC sites’ declined in performance as waste 

increased from 456 tonnes (2016/17) to 466 tonnes (2017/18) but has met its 
2017/18 interim target of fewer than 791. Overall, this indicator has shown a long 

50



 

term improvement (i.e. reduction in waste) since 2012-13, although since 2016/17 
this has begun to level off.   

 
25. The ‘Percent of Waste recycled from LCC sites’ declined in performance from 59% 

(2016/17) to 55.8% (2017/18) and is well below the target of 70%. Although the 
recycling rate at County Hall is very good (around 75%), other County Council 
buildings, particularly those with community use, are only achieving recycling rates of 
less than 50%. Work is continuing to visit these buildings and to work with staff to 
address this. Since 2014/15, this indicator has varied very little between 53.6% and 
60%. As part of the new Environment Strategy 2018-20, a more intelligent approach 
to this target has since been adopted. 

 
26. The following environmental impact performance indicators mostly support the 

Council’s ‘Corporate Enabler’ outcome, within dashboard 2 in Appendix A. 
 
27. The ‘total CO2 emissions from LCC operations (excluding schools)’ showed a 

significant annual improvement in performance as the Council’s carbon emissions 
have reduced this year by a third (34%). Emissions fell to 13,935 tonnes in 2017/18 
from 21,181 tonnes in 2016/17 and are well ahead of their target. In 2017/18, as part 
of the Energy Strategy, £0.5m has been spent on upgrading lighting, boilers and 
heating controls on County Council premises. £0.6m was spent on solar PV panels 
and LED lighting as part of the Energy Score+ Programme. The most significant 
decrease was attributed to reduced gas use in buildings, as a result of a biomass 
boiler being installed at County Hall. Other factors include our scheme to change 
street lights to LEDs, resulting in a fall in energy consumption, a decrease in 
electricity and gas consumption following a review of our buildings and an investment 
in energy efficiency and renewable energy, and a reduction in emissions from our 
vehicles. 

 
28. ‘Carbon emissions from LCC buildings’ reduced by 14.5%, from 5,738 tonnes in 

2016/17 to 4,906 tonnes in 2017/18 resulting in improved performance that is well 
ahead of its target. This is mainly due to a reduction in the carbon intensity of 
electricity used following the improvement schemes mentioned above. 

 
29. Carbon emissions from LCC street lighting and traffic signs improved in performance 

as a result of a significant 55% reduction in emissions from 9,532 tonnes in 2016/17 
to 4,265 tonnes in 2017/18 and exceeded its target  (11,476 tonnes). This reflects the 
full year roll out of the installation of LED lighting and lighting management as 
previously mentioned. There has been a significant 68% reduction in emissions since 
14/15. 

 
30. The number of ‘Total Business miles claimed’ improved again in performance last 

year as miles claimed decreased from 6,199 miles in 2016/17 to 5,833 miles in 
2017/18, meeting its target of 6,960 miles. 

 
31. The ‘Amount of renewable energy generated as a percentage of consumption’ was 

introduced following the Council’s pledge to use 100% clean energy by 2050. The 
Council has achieved 12.7% against an interim target of 11.9% for 2017/18. This 
good performance was partially due to new renewable installations.  

 
32. The latest data for ‘CO2 emissions per capita in the local area’ has improved in 

performance from 5.8 tonnes per person (tpp) in 2015 to 5.4 tpp in 2016. This data is 

51



 

produced by the government 2 years in arrears. This indicator is in the third quartile 
when compared to other two tier county councils. 

 
Background papers 
 
Leicestershire County Council’s Strategic Outcomes Framework and Plans 2018-22  
NHT (National Highways and Transport Network) 2017, Summary Report for 
Leicestershire 
Leicester and Leicestershire Business Survey 2017 
Benchmarking Tableau 2016/17 report (pdf available on request) 
 
Circulation under Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
 
Equalities and Human Rights Implications  
 
There are no specific equal opportunities implications to note as part of this performance 
report. 
 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – 1. Transport Performance Annual Report Dashboard, 2017/18 
 

2. Environment and Waste Annual Report Performance Dashboard,           
2017/18 

  
Appendix B – Draft Annual Report summaries for Environment and Transport 
 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers, Director, Environment and Transport Department 
(0116) 305 7000 
Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk  
 
Nicola Truslove, Business Partner, Business Intelligence Service 
(0116) 305 8302 
Nicola.Truslove@leics.gov.uk  
 
Andy Brown, Team leader, Business Intelligence Service 
(0116) 305 6096 
Andy.Brown@leics.gov.uk  
 

52

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2018/2/2/LCC-Strategic-Plan-2018-22.pdf
https://nhtsurvey.econtrack.com/content.aspx?16316
https://nhtsurvey.econtrack.com/content.aspx?16316
https://www.llep.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Leicestershire-Business-Survey_FINAL_singles.pdf
https://tableau.leics.gov.uk/#/views/BenchmarkingDashboard2016-17/Indicators?:iid=1
https://tableau.leics.gov.uk/#/views/BenchmarkingDashboard2016-17/Indicators?:iid=1
mailto:Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Nicola.Truslove@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Andy.Brown@leics.gov.uk


Appendix A Dashboards 1 & 2. 

 

53



 

54



Please note ‘Polarity’ tells us whether or not high or low data is best performance. High means that high values show best performance. Low means low 

values show best performance. For example, all satisfaction indicators have a high polarity.  

 A green tick means performance is good, it is on target and performance has improved. 

 

55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Economy - Transport 

People and businesses need infrastructure that provides excellent connectivity that 
meets their every-day needs. Transport infrastructure is a key enabler providing 
access to opportunity and opening up sites for growth. We aim to ensure good 
connectivity within the county and across the UK through working closely with 
partners to realise the Midlands Connect Strategy. We also continue to progress 
delivery of our local transport priorities to support growth, reduce congestion, 
increase road safety and support more sustainable travel.   

Midlands Connect – the Midlands Connect Strategy outlines the region’s vision to 
become an engine for growth through investment in transport infrastructure. It 
proposes a 25 year programme of investment in strategic road and rail 
improvements to reduce congestion, improve journey times and support housing 
growth.   We are currently involved in a number of Midland Connect projects that are 
directly related to the successful delivery of our Prospectus for Growth, including 
improvements to rail services to places such as Coventry and Birmingham, the A46 
Expressway, which is also a key element of the draft Leicester and Leicestershire 
Strategic Growth Plan, and upgrades to the A5. These projects will not only greatly 
enhance people’s ability to travel efficiently and safely around and through 
Leicestershire, but will also enable the provision of much needed houses and jobs to 
meet the demands of the area’s growing population. 

Transport for East Midlands (TfEM) – through our involvement in TfEM we have 
set out our top priorities for transport improvements across the East Midlands 
including making the most of the HS2 development, securing a Midland Main Line fit 
for the 21st century, improving access to East Midlands Airport, the A46 Growth 
Corridor, A5 Improvement Corridor and transforming East-West connectivity.   

Rail Strategy – working with the City Council and LLEP we have set out rail 
priorities up to 2043 to influence the Government and rail companies to fund further 
improvements to Leicestershire’s rail network and services.  The strategy aims to 
achieve significant improvements to rail travel to and from Leicestershire stations 
including cutting Midland Main Line journey times. Progress includes providing input 
into the East Midlands Trains and Cross Country refranchising processes and 
working jointly with Midlands Connect, Leicester City Council and Warwickshire 
County Council to develop a business case for the reinstatement of direct Leicester 
to Coventry rail services. We are also learning more about the implications for the 
council of work to develop the proposals for and to build HS2 Phase 2b.     

Major Road Schemes Supporting Growth 

Since November 2016, we have outlined a list of transport projects totalling in excess 
of £360m and with the potential to generate at least £500m GVA for the local 
economy. We have a very strong track record of securing external funding, having 
since 2014 secured over £120m to invest in supporting growth and improving the 
County’s transport infrastructure. Current and future schemes include:  

Appendix B – Draft Annual Report summaries for Environment and Transport

57



Northern and Eastern Melton Mowbray Distributor Road - in May we were 
delighted with the announcement of a £49.5m government contribution towards the 
building of a distributor road for Melton Mowbray. The successful bid to the 
Department for Transport Local Major Schemes Fund gives the green light for further 
preparation work to enable completion of the scheme in 2022. We’ve committed £4m 
in making this scheme shovel-ready and will continue to work with the local planning 
authority, Melton Borough Council, to secure developer contributions. It’s part of a 
strategy that includes further measures to address congestion issues, air pollution, 
public transport improvements, and provide healthy walking and cycling options. 
Work has already been carried out to develop designs, carry out traffic studies and 
work with partners and landowners. In June we announced the preferred route for 
the road, to run north and east of Melton starting on the A606 Nottingham Road.    

Hinckley – a £2m third phase of works to improve walking, cycling and public 
transport provision was completed in Spring 2017. The works followed on from and 
supplemented two previous phases of works in the Hinckley area, totalling £3.5m. In 
October 2017 the Council was successful in securing funding for a further multi-
million pound package of transport measures.  This consisted of £3.5m secured from 
the government’s National Productivity Investment Fund and a further £1.5m of 
County Council match funding. The £5m package notably includes junction 
improvements along Rugby Road to help reduce queue lengths and improve journey 
times along the corridor. The package of measures will help ease congestion, which 
affects businesses and constrains growth, as well as help boost the economy. This 
phase of works is planned to start in May 2019 and set to finish in the summer of 
2020. 

M1 J23/A512 – the detailed design of improvements to ease congestion and provide 
access to the West Loughborough housing development commenced in 2017/18 and 
will continue in 2018/19 with completion on site anticipated in late 2020.   

Ashby - in September 2017 a £2.3m scheme to reduce congestion and improve 
road conditions near Ashby began. The project saw work carried out to Discovery 
Way, the Ashby bypass junction and Tesco roundabout, to give motorists easier 
access to the many industrial and retail premises in the area. The work aims to 
reduce traffic congestion at key locations, improve road conditions and support jobs 
and the local economy. The work, part-funded by the government’s National 
Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) included providing an alternative route to the 
shops and businesses on the Flagstaff 42 industrial estate at the A511 Ashby 
bypass junction with Discovery Way. It also involves widening the carriageway on 
the A511 Ashby bypass approach to the Tesco roundabout to reduce the length of 
queues; reducing the size of the Tesco roundabout to give more room for circulating 
traffic; widening the lanes on the Nottingham Road approach; and putting in new 
direction signs and lane markings to encourage the use of two lanes by motorists 
approaching the roundabout and then turning right towards the A42 junction 13 
Flagstaff roundabout. 

A46 Anstey Lane – the detailed design of improvements to ease congestion and 
mitigate the effects of the Aston Green housing development commenced in 2017/18 
and will be continued in 2018/19 with completion the following year. The works will 
be part funded by Growth and Housing Fund monies from Highways England. 

58



Ratby Lane - Ratby Lane Wembley Road £0.6m NPIF funded improvements to the 
signal junction were completed in 2017/18.  

Transport Awards - our work on the Lubbesthorpe Strategic Employment Site 
infrastructure won top prize from the East Midlands Institute of Civil Engineers. Our 
Medium Schemes Framework 2 also was highly commended in the CIHT 
Collaboration Award 2018. Our transport modelling capability was also recognised 
through a separate award.    

 

Ongoing Highways and Transport Services 

Town Centre Traffic – since 2008 traffic levels in county towns have increased 
year-on-year as the population continues to grow. We are aware of the impact on 
road users, residents and businesses in terms of congestion as well as air quality 
and noise pollution concerns. In June 2018 we considered a report looking at how 
traffic will be managed in the county towns to best minimise the impact. As part of 
our day-to-day work to manage traffic we are looking at the effectiveness of current 
traffic management in the towns, including double yellow line restrictions, residents’ 
permit parking and limited waiting times.  The focus for the impact assessment is on 
Ashby, Castle Donington, Coalville, Hinckley (including Barwell and Earl Shilton), 
Loughborough, Lutterworth, Market Harborough, Melton Mowbray and Oadby and 
Wigston.     

Tackling School Parking Problems - we work closely with schools and colleges to 
improve issues around on street parking, pedestrian and pupil safety.  We are aware 
of residents’ and parents’ concerns about the level of inappropriate parking that 
takes place outside schools across the county. Ideally the schools and local 
communities work together to encourage parents to park appropriately on the school 
run and we continue to provide help and guidance on school travel plans to help 
tackle the problem. However, this is not always successful. In September 2017 we 
therefore agreed plans to combat the problems of parents parking outside schools. 
Plans involve making more zig zag zones outside schools enforceable across the 
county to address concerns that parents, residents and teachers have about parking. 
A new camera car to enforce these restrictions became operational in September 
2018. 

School Clear Zone – in April a school clear zone trial commenced with the aim to 
reduce congestion and encourage parents and children to cycle or walk. Through a 
grant from the DfT’s Access Fund, traffic management measures were put in place 
to reduce congestion around Millfield Academy. The school clear zone involves no 
waiting restrictions being put in place on streets around the school.  

School Pedestrian Crossing – in March we responded to concerns and confirmed 
that an area outside two schools in Hinckley met the criteria for a new pedestrian 
crossing.  We will introduce a puffin crossing following concerns raised in the 
community about children crossing the road outside Dorothy Goodman School and 

Redmoor Academy.  An assessment was carried out which considers the number of 

vehicles and pedestrians at the location. The crossing will be in place in 2018/19. 

59



Puffin crossings are signal-controlled crossings fitted with equipment that can extend 
the time which allows vulnerable pedestrians to cross the road.   

Road Safety – despite the increase in traffic, roads in Leicestershire are significantly 
safer than they were 18 years ago.  However, in April 2018, we announced that we 
were planning on spending a further £500k on improving road safety across the 
county. Using funds from our capital programme we reviewed roads and junctions 
where seven or more collisions had occurred over a five year period. The safety 
measures being implemented include new signs and lining measures, with more 
substantial works being considered where appropriate. We are also looking at rural 
roads that could benefit from a speed reduction.  We continue to offer our pre-driver 
days aimed at 16 and 17 year olds wishing to gain experience behind the wheel and 
covering issues relating to speed, impairment, distraction, the Highway Code and 
general road safety.  

Driver Education Workshops - the Driver Education Workshops provide 
educational courses, on behalf of the Police, as an alternative to the conditional offer 
of a fixed penalty and points, to drivers committing minor driving offences. These 
courses are run from 3 venues within the Leicestershire area – Thurmaston, 
Glenfield and Loughborough.  We currently offer the following courses: National 
Speed Awareness Course (NSAC); National What’s Driving Us? Course (NWDU); 
National Motorway Awareness Course (NMAC) and National Driver Alertness 
Course (NDAC) 

School Crossing Patrol Service - the School Crossing Patrol Service has helped 
thousands of children and parents on the journey to school again in 2017/18. Our 
patrols provide an important link in encouraging sustainable travel and in many 
cases walking to school helps to reduce school gate congestion and associated 
parking issues. There are currently 75 school crossing patrol sites in operation 
across the county and there are an additional 28 sites where there is a vacancy. 
Vacancies are advertised through our new online recruitment portal as well as via 
site notices near the crossing area/locally and also via the school through parent 
newsletters etc.   

Community Speed Watch - the April – October 2017 CSW programme helped to 
support 16 county wide schemes resulting in 2300 letters being sent to drivers. It is 
an educational scheme which enables volunteers to work within their community to 
raise awareness of the dangers of speeding.  The scheme is run by Leicestershire 
County Council’s Safe & Sustainable Travel Team and is fully supported by 
Leicestershire Police.   CSW incorporates poster campaigns and a pledge system 
linked to direct action using speed detection equipment.  The use of the radar 
devices does not lead to prosecution.  Drivers will get a letter from the police which 
will help to underline the community’s commitment to reducing speed. 

Bikeability cycle training is delivered in Leicestershire by six Road Safety Tutors 
who are all National Standard Instructor Trainers.  There are three Bikeability levels, 
each designed to improve cycling skills.  Levels 1, 2 and 3, takes trainees from the 
basics of riding, all the way to planning and making an independent journey on 
busier roads.  Level 1 and 2 is delivered to children in years 5 or 6.  The delivery of 
level 3 is currently being developed and will be available to years 6 or  7.  In addition 
to this we also deliver a programme of Bikeability Balance.  This is an initiative to 

60



inspire younger children to take to two wheels and aims to give children the basic 
balance and co-ordination skills they will need to learn to ride a bike. Bikeability 
Balance is delivered to 4+/year 1 children. 

During the period April 2017 – March 2018 Leicestershire County Council had 2359 
grant funded places to deliver Level 1/2.  2705 children were trained to level 2 
standard.  During the same period Bikeability Balance had 264 grant funded places 
delivered to reception age children.  

Reducing Speed Limits - in August we announced proposals to reduce the speed 
limit from 60mph to 50mph on some stretches of country roads across 
Leicestershire. The move follows a study which found that around 60% of collisions 
which caused injury on rural routes involved motorists exceeding the 60mph speed 
limit. We have identified 11 rural roads across the county where action will be taken 
to reduce the speed limit. The speed limit reductions will also incorporate reviews of 
the existing road markings and signs to ensure that they provide adequate warning 
of bends and junctions.    

Average Speed Cameras – there are communities across the county whose lives 
are blighted by the effects of speeding motorists. We have listened to what people 
have been telling us about the problem. In May 2018 we announced that we were 
starting work to install new average speed cameras as part of a trial to alleviate 
safety concerns across the county. The speed cameras will cover four villages and 
three key main and rural routes which have various issues and concerns around 
speeding and safety. The scheme will address the concerns of residents and aims to 
make a positive change to drivers’ behaviour. The 12-month trial and enforcement, 
funded by us, started in summer 2018. The locations of the speed cameras will be 
Sharnford, Walcote, Oadby, Groby, Measham, Woodhouse Eaves and Freeby. 
Following the trial, we will look to widen out the camera programme, should a 

proposed new approach to funding be supported by the Government.  The devices 

will be switched on in September 2018.  

Street Lighting – in March 2018 we announced that a project to upgrade our street 
lights to energy saving LEDs was complete, following a £19m investment 
programme. This involved replacing existing street lights and removing unnecessary 
highway sign lighting. The technology will save us £2m a year and the scheme has 
already seen a reduction in the carbon footprint by 4,450 tonnes. The new lights will 
be controlled by a central management system. This provides flexibility in how 
lighting is provided, for example enabling those in part-lit areas to be switched back 
on temporarily during the evening to help the emergency services at incident scenes 
if necessary, or to dim or brighten lights if needed.  

61



Sustainable Travel  

Sustainable Travel – we are supporting businesses to encourage their employees 
to walk and cycle to and from work. Up to £5,000 in grants were made available to 
businesses through the Access Fund, which focuses on supporting active and 
sustainable travel in the west of Leicester and neighbouring areas of the county. The 
scheme has helped businesses to benefit from training programmes for community 
cycle champions, as well as funding to provide electric charging points, repair stands 
and cycle pumps, parking spaces, maintenance courses and equipment for pool bike 
schemes. Promoting travel options can reduce pressures on car parking, tackle 
congestion, improve health and help reduce stress. 

In July personal travel plans were launched to help reduce traffic congestion and 
boost sustainable travel in and out of Leicester. Around 10,000 residents will receive 
postcards telling them about personal travel plans which will then be followed up with 
doorstep visits. As part of the scheme people will be given information and advice 
about alternative options such as walking, cycling and public transport as well as tips 
on smart driving and car sharing. The plans aim to tackle congestion, encourage 
active travel and help people to save money. The scheme is funded through a £3.2m 
award from the Government’s Sustainable Transport Access Fund.       

Demand Responsive Transport and Subsidised Bus Services - in November 
2017 essential transport services were put in place for residents in Syston following 
a bus firm’s decision to change one of its services. From November the Council 
provided a demand responsive transport service for residents as well as re-routing 
the existing 100 bus service, following Arriva’s decision to stop running its 
commercial number 6 service. In June 2018 we also responded to residents’ 
concerns and stepped in to support the number 58 service between Lutterworth and 
Market Harborough.  

Park and Ride – our Park and Ride services ran nearly every day in December, 
making it easier for people to enjoy the city centre offer for Christmas. 
Extra services ran on all five Sundays in December and Boxing Day – including 
Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve. All three of the Park and Ride sites have free 
parking for service users, including disabled spaces and parent and child parking.    
All the buses have free wi-fi on board.  

Cycling – in March 2018 we supported the free Bike Fest event held at the recently 
opened cycle track at New College in Leicester to help promote cycling and walking 
across the county.   

Public Rights of Way – over 40% of the highways network in the County is made 
up of footpaths, bridleways or byways. In and around urban areas where the vast 
majority of the community live, they provide access to a range of places and facilities 
to users on foot or on a bicycle. In a wider context they provide the key and often 
only way for the public to access the wider countryside. The authority manages a 
network that is over 3000 kms or 1880 miles long. A condition measure is in place to 
see how easy it is to use by the public each year as well as analysis of customer 
reports to see how resources are best focused.  Over 12500 waymark posts and 
42000 waymarkers point the way ahead. Ongoing cyclical cuts to keep paths clear 

62



are carried out. The authority also carries out a wide range of checks and 
enforcement each year to keep paths open.  

 

Highways Maintenance and Management 

Highways Maintenance – Leicestershire has some of the best maintained roads in 
the country, and the highways and transport service was the highest rated county 
council for road condition in the National Highways and Transport Network Public 
Satisfaction survey last year. In 2017/18 a total of £12.0m was spent on Highways 
Asset Maintenance including £9.7m on roads, £0.3m on footways and rights of way, 
£1.5m on bridge maintenance and strengthening, £0.1m on flood alleviation and 
£0.3m on traffic signal renewal. During the year we agreed additional funding to be 
used to allow potholes on the county’s roads to be repaired quicker than previously. 
We also trialled a new system that saw customer reported potholes repaired within 
two weeks. 

In March we reported that we had fixed around 6000 potholes over the past 12 
months. Following the cold snap highways teams worked hard to fix the problems 
caused by freezing water expanding the road surface and leading to cracks. We 
agreed in February to put an additional £600k per year into fixing potholes, tackling 
flooding hotspots, repairing signs and relining roads. It was also announced in March 
that the County was to receive around £1.56m extra from the Government to help 
repair potholes and damage caused by recent storms.       

In April we announced that 700,000sq metres of roads across the county would be 
treated during the summer to help reduce the chance of potholes. Surface dressing 
provides the road with an additional protective layer, by sealing the surface.  
Carrying out surface dressing is up to 10 times more cost effective than conventional 
resurfacing.  In May we unveiled plans to inject an extra £5m into fixing and 
maintaining Leicestershire’s roads. The money will be used to prevent more potholes 
and ramp up our resurfacing programme to stop defects occurring in the first place.  
The extra income is generated from recent investments including rents from 
properties purchased over the last year. It’s on top of a further £8m of funding 
already directed towards highways maintenance in recent years. The total road 
maintenance budget for 2018/19 is now £24m. 

Roadworks Permit Scheme – in March 2018 we launched a new scheme to 
minimise disruption for motorists. The permit scheme will give more control over the 
works that take place on roads across the county. Under the scheme we will 
have more of a say over the timing, duration and how works are carried out to 
minimise any adverse impact on motorists. Permit schemes have been used in other 
areas of the country to great effect and we have tailored ours to the county’s 
particular needs. Anyone carrying out road and street works will have to apply for a 
permit in advance of works, unless they are for an emergency. Permit fees will be set 
to cover running costs. 

63



Clearing Roadside Drains – in September 2018 we unveiled a new approach to 
clearing roadside drains of blockages. We are applying a new ‘risk-based’ approach 
to cleaning them that includes increasing the number of roadside drains visited by 
officers - from 64,000 per year to 92,000 – without costs rising. A trial found that 
visits to roads that are not a risk of flooding can be made less often, meaning officers 
can concentrate on areas where evidence shows that drains are likely to fill up with 
silt faster. Currently, drains are cleaned on an 18 to 24 month fixed programme, 
whether the road is at risk of flooding or not. It is planned that the new approach is 
rolled out early in 2019.   

Gritting and Winter Maintenance – in December our gritters worked round-the-
clock to keep Leicestershire moving. Crews hit the roads treating key roads across 
the county. We have a total of 21 gritters and drivers who spread roughly 170 tonnes 
of rock salt across 45% of the road network each time they are called out. This year, 
our grit barns were stocked up with 14,500 tonnes of rock salt (giving a 18,000 tonne 
capacity), ready to treat key routes across the county and ensure that motorists can 
get around. We monitor the weather constantly and if freezing temperatures are 
forecast, our fleet of gritters will be ready to treat major roads and key routes. In 
addition to the gritters, there are also a number of snow wardens based in 
communities across the county who grit paths, as well as farmers who during snow 
conditions, fit ploughs to their tractors and assist us in clearing roads. A team of 
volunteer 4x4 drivers are on hand to deliver hot meals to the elderly, as well as help 
carers and health visitors reach their patients if there is prolonged heavy snowfall.  

During the 17/18 winter season our fleet of vehicles were out 109 times, spreading 
over 20,000 tonnes of rock salt across 115,740 miles of road. The equivalent of four 
trips around the world. During the winter we completed 1,256 night runs to date – a 
41% increase on last year. The crews experienced some of the most challenging 
conditions in recent times with road surface temperatures as low as -8 degrees, 
heavy snow and ice.  By contrast in July 2018 our gritters spread around 150 tonnes 
of granite over roads at risk of melting during the summer heatwave. Highway teams 
dusted more than 25 locations across the county. Temperatures soared and officers 
constantly monitored the road surface temperatures.   

 

64



Great Communities - Environment and Waste  

Our aim is to ensure that sustainable management of our natural resources 
continues to protect our environment. We also aim to protect and enhance the 
environment across the county and improve the quality of life of residents. 

New Environment Strategy – in July we approved a new Environment Strategy to 
2030 and associated three-year Action Plan. To date over £21m has been invested 
in significant projects across the county which have direct and indirect environmental 
benefits including the street lighting LED project, installation of solar panels and the 
biomass boiler project. Under the new strategy we aim to minimise our 
environmental impacts and contribute to the improvement of the wider environment 
through local action.  We will also continue to play a significant role in protecting and 
enhancing the environment of Leicestershire, meeting the challenges of climate 
change and seeking to embed environmental sustainability into both social and 
economic development in the county.  

The strategy consists of 15 aims and high level targets covering climate change, 
waste, water, energy, transportation and environmental performance.  Key aspects 
of the strategy include empowering communities, residents, the public sector and 
businesses to become resilient to climate change alongside the council’s 
commitment to reduce its own impact on the environment.  Targets include a 38% 
reduction in carbon emissions by 2030, an increase in the level of low carbon and 
renewable energy generated on council land and properties to 15% by 2021 and 
exploring an increase in our fleet of energy efficient vehicles and mileage. As part of 
the UK100 campaign we have pledged to use 100% clean energy by 2050.  

Food Waste Prevention – residents hoping to tackle food waste last year took part 
in our food waste prevention scheme - the community kitchens project. We delivered 
the project in partnership with Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council and 
Sainsbury’s after receiving £20,000 from Sainsbury’s as part of the supermarket’s 
‘Waste less, Save more’ initiative. We used the funds to support the community by 
opening kitchens in Earl Shilton, Barwell and Wykin, and organised a 10-week 
course at each of them, with the aim of getting people thinking about what food they 
throw away at home. The courses, which began in September 2017, enabled 
participants to eat and socialise together, while learning and sharing tips on how to 
reduce food waste and save money. 

Composting - each year Leicestershire residents produce more than 300,000 
tonnes of rubbish and recyclables, around 22% of which is uncooked fruit, 
vegetables and garden waste that could have been composted rather than binned. 
To help, we offer cut-price compost bins to reduce the amount of waste sent to 
landfill. Residents can also call on the support of a Master Composter, volunteers 
who use their own skills and enthusiasm to raise awareness of the benefits of home 
composting.  

Recycling - in September 2017 residents were urged to look and feel good as part 
of a campaign to tackle recycling. We teamed up with Recycle Now as part of 
Recycle Week to encourage people to dispose of their bathroom items, such as 
empty deodorant cans, properly. The campaign focused on the mantra ‘what goes 
around comes around’, due to items such as aerosols being able to be recycled 

65



again and again without any loss in quality. Despite around 156,000 tonnes of 
collected waste being recycled, composted, or sent for reuse across Leicestershire, 
there are certain items that evade the recycling bin. For National Recycle Week we 
encouraged people to root out the recycling in rooms that are often missed.  

In January 2018 we looked to inspire the next generation of recyclers by linking up 
with theatre company, PALS Productions, to look at ways of providing engaging 
activities to get youngsters thinking about sustainability. The company, which 
incorporates interactive teaching techniques in workshops on reducing, reusing and 
recycling, carried out a five-week tour of primary schools across the county.  We also 
offered free educational waste reduction workshops, activities and talks to 
community groups and schools in Leicestershire who have an interest in reducing 
waste, and living more sustainably. In March 2018 school children across 
Leicestershire were given the chance to inspire recycling across the county by 
creating a work of art. The competition was a great way for youngsters to have fun 
while learning about the difference recycling can make.   

Shire Recycling Grants – we continue to offer recycling grants of up to £3,000 
aimed at community groups and other organisations. The purpose is to support 
activities that enable local residents and communities to reduce, reuse or recycle, 
and can include food waste cafés, clothes swaps, second-hand toy libraries, 
community composting, repair cafés or upcycling events to give old, damaged or 
unwanted items a new lease of life.  

Recycling and Household Waste Sites – in September 2017 we surveyed 
customers at each of our 14 household waste sites.  The survey found that 98.9% 
were either fairly or very satisfied with the service at the site overall. Site users were 
particularly complimentary of site cleanliness and the helpfulness of site staff. Our 
programme of small improvements and works to ensure environmental compliance 
at the RHWS and waste transfer stations has also continued, underpinning our 
commitment to providing a high quality service.   

Waste Disposal – we facilitated the disposal of municipal waste for the county using 
a number of mechanisms… 

Fly Tipping – in May we launched a countywide campaign to stop fly-tipping. The 
#IfOnly campaign saw councils across the county join forces to warn people they 
face tough action if they are caught fly-tipping. The consequences can range from a 
£400 fixed penalty notice to an unlimited fine, a criminal record or time in prison. The 
campaign focused on the stories of four characters – based on real people who have 
been caught fly-tipping in the past. The examples show that people can be caught 
for all sorts of reasons, from putting a fridge on the pavement to dumping bags by a 
local recycling bank.  Residents can also be fined and prosecuted for using a trader 
who doesn’t have a waste licence and operates door-to-door. 

Reducing greenhouse gas emissions – in December 2017 we reported that a 
number of energy-saving improvements had seen us reach our greenhouse gas 
emissions target four years ahead of schedule. In 2017/18 as part of our Energy 
Strategy £0.5m has been spent on upgrading lighting, boilers and heating controls 
on County Council premises.  £0.6m was spent on solar pv panels and LED lighting 
as part of the energy score+ programme. Our performance for 2017 saw a decline of 

66



34% emissions across the county, meeting our  34% target set for 2020-21.  The 
most significant decrease was attributed to reduced gas use in buildings, as a result 
of a biomass boiler being installed at County Hall. Other factors include our scheme 
to change street lights to LEDs, resulting in a fall in energy consumption, a decrease 
in electricity and gas consumption following a review of our buildings and  investment 
in energy efficiency and renewable energy and a reduction in emissions from our 
vehicles. 

Water and Energy Strategy - annual electricity costs for the year to August 2018 
were £1.2 million lower than the previous year. Consumption of electricity and gas 
was reduced by 40% in comparison with the previous year. This was achieved by 
investments in LED lighting upgrades for street lighting and renewable energy 
generation systems.  

100% Clean Energy - in May 2018 we committed to using 100% clean energy by 
2050 by becoming a signatory to the UK100 campaign. Aiming to ensure that energy 
will come from renewable sources such as wind, water and solar power and not from 
fossil fuels. Climate change is an issue globally and we have a responsibility to 
ensure that we do all that we can to tackle the problem. Pledging our support to the 
campaign means we can work with communities and businesses in the county to 
change to a low carbon economy, which will help to secure an environmentally 
sustainable future. We are also supporting the LLEP, to develop a Local Industrial 
Strategy (LIS) which will set out how the area will promote ‘clean growth’.  Through 
the Local Industrial Strategy and our pledge to UK100 we’ll have the opportunity to 
support the development and expansion of low carbon businesses and make clean 
energy more economical and reliable. 

Green Energy and Solar Farm - in April we unveiled innovative proposals for a 
solar farm and industrial units to generate green energy and almost £1m a year for 
council services. The plan involves creating a renewable energy facility and 14 
workspaces for businesses on land off the A6 north of Quorn. Each year the site 
would produce 10 megawatts of electricity - enough to power around 3,000 homes - 
and generate £940,000 for the council to invest into front line services.  The plan will 
breath new life into disused farm land. SCORE+ has seen installations of approx. 
£2.2M into local Schools and Academies of Solar PV, Energy Efficient LED Lighting, 
new boilers for heating the swimming pools and a heat recovery system for the pools 
air handling units.  

Two boreholes are being installed to provide water for our Highways Gulley Jetting 
Team, this will allow us to make an annual reduction of £8,000 to our water usage 
costs across both sites. We are investigating the installation of a Rain Water 
Harvesting System at County Hall, to further reduce our water usage and 
subsequent costs.  The biomass boiler at County Hall is now alone generating 
£70,000 annually in Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI) government subsidy in addition 
to reducing costs and emissions of carbon dioxide. 

The photovoltaic solar panel installations across the corporate estate, including 
County Hall, earned £70k in Feed in Tariff (FIT) payments during 2017/18. We are 
now undertaking a programme to introduce Renewable Energy technologies to our 
Agricultural Buildings, including Solar PV installations to our Local Farms. This will 
help in meeting the objective to achieve a 1% year on year increase in the 

67



generation of renewable energy generated by the Council. In addition we are 
currently developing plans for a solar farm which could potentially generate up to an 
additional 10MW per annum. 

Fosse Energy - The Fosse Energy white label energy supply company has been 
launched to staff members. The scheme is delivered in partnership with Leicester 
City Council and Robin Hood Energy and offers competitive energy supply deals for 
Leicestershire residents for their gas and electricity costs. Fosse Energy will be fully 
launched to the public in November 2018. 

Electric Vehicle Charging - Electric vehicle charging points were installed at five 
locations within the corporate portfolio: County Hall, Croft and Mountsorrel Highways 
Depots, Loughborough Technology Unit and Coalville Business Unit.  The charging 
points will be available to visitors as well as staff, providing cheap rate charging for 
electric vehicles, including the authority’s own pool cars. The overall cost of the 
project is £120k. 

Climate Change Grants – in October 2017 community groups and organisations 
were encouraged to apply for the latest round of shire climate change grants. Grants 
of up to £5,000 were made available through the scheme run by the Council to 
help groups and organisations to reduce their carbon emissions by improving their 
community buildings. Groups which have already been supported by the grant 
include members of Blaby Methodist Church, who received help with cavity wall 
insulation and new heaters for their building.  

Wildlife - we again teamed up with the Woodland Trust to encourage farmers and 
community groups to provide a habitat for wildlife by planting trees across the 
Charnwood, Hinckley and Bosworth and Blaby areas. Applicants applied for a 
MOREhedges pack – which includes a minimum of 100m of new hedgerow, 475 
shrubs and 25 trees and a MOREwoods pack– which consisted of free trees and 
shrubs to plant a woodland. In April we launched a new course for people who want 
to make their gardens a welcome habitat for wildlife. Working with The Conservation 
Volunteers we ran a one-day training event looking at how important gardens are for 
insects and animals. It included advice on how people can make changes in their 
own gardens for local wildlife.  

Ash Dieback – in July we set aside £5m to deal with effects of a disease which 
affects ash trees. The majority of the 500,000 or so ash trees in the county could be 
lost to ash dieback over 5 to 15 years. The council is responsible for around 6,000 
trees on its highways and 2000 trees on schools and other sites. The ash dieback 
action plan includes an inspection regime, looking at funding streams for replanting 
trees and minimising the impact on the landscape, ecology and the environment.    

68



 
 

 
CABINET – 16 OCTOBER 2018 

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

 

THE DEVELOPMENT OF A UNITARY STRUCTURE FOR LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT IN LEICESTERSHIRE 

 
Purpose of the Report 

 
1. To respond to the Cabinet resolution of 6 July 2018 to enable the Cabinet to 

consider outline proposals for the development of a unitary structure for local 
government in Leicestershire and, in light of that consideration, stakeholder 
engagement.  The report also provides an update on the development of a 
Strategic Alliance for the East Midlands. 

 
 Recommendation  
 
2. It is recommended that: 
  

(a) the outline proposals for the development of a unitary structure for local 
government in Leicestershire and subsequent stakeholder engagement be 
considered; 
 

(b) the proposed terms of reference for the working party established by the 
County Council on 26 September be considered; 

 
(c) the present position in respect of a Strategic Alliance for the East Midlands 

be noted. 
 
Reasons for Recommendation  
 
3. To enable consideration to be given to the next steps in the development of a 

unitary structure for local government in Leicestershire.  
 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
4. Subject to agreement by the Cabinet, this report will be considered by the Scrutiny 

Commission and the Overview and Scrutiny Committees during November, as 
follows:- 

 

Children and Families - Monday 5 November  
Adults and Communities - Tuesday 6 November  
Health – Wednesday 7 November  
Environment and Transport - Thursday 8 November 
Scrutiny Commission - Wednesday 14 November 

 

69 Agenda Item 11



 
 

5. The Cabinet has left open the opportunity to consider comments of the Scrutiny 
bodies, stakeholders and the working party (referred to in paragraphs 130 to 133) 
at its meeting on 23 November 2018.  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
6. The Cabinet at its meeting on 6 July requested officers to undertake work on the 

development of a unitary structure for local government in Leicestershire and to 
prepare outline proposals. The Cabinet also authorised the Chief Executive and 
Director of Corporate Resources to work with regional counterparts to develop a 
Strategic Alliance for the East Midlands. 
   

7. At its meeting on 26 September the County Council set up a politically balanced 
working party on a unitary structure for local government in Leicestershire. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
8. Work on the development of a unitary structure for local government has been 

undertaken within existing resources.  The financial implications of unitary local 
government in Leicestershire are set out in the report. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
9. The outline proposals and recommendations under consideration are ‘Executive 

Functions’ and are therefore a matter for the Cabinet.  However, given the 
significance of the decision it is planned that the matter should be referred to the 
full Council for consideration and debate.  The Leader has given a separate 
commitment to consideration by the full Council. 

 
10. The Director of Law and Governance has been consulted on the content of this 

report.  The legislative position in respect of unitary reorganisation is set out later 
in the report. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
11. As this is a matter which will affect all areas of the county, a copy of this report is 

being circulated to all members of the County Council. 
 

Officers to Contact 
 

John Sinnott 
Chief Executive 
Tel: 0116 305 6000 Email: john.sinnott@leics.gov.uk 
 

Chris Tambini 
Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 6199 Email: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 

Simon Lawrence, Major Programmes Manager 
Chief Executive’s Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7243   Email: simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk 

70

mailto:john.sinnott@leics.gov.uk
mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk


 
 

PART B 
 
Background 
 
Recent history of Local Government Structures in the UK and Leicestershire 
 
12. The reorganisation of 1974 following the Local Government Act 1972 established 

a two-tier structure of counties and districts throughout England.  Successive 
reorganisations have increasingly dismantled that structure, through the 
introduction of unitary authorities, starting in 1986. Of the current membership of 
the County Councils’ Network, 25% are unitary councils. 

 
13. Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland all have unitary structures of local 

government. 
 
14. In 1997, Leicester City and Rutland became unitary authorities, while the rest of 

Leicestershire retained the two-tier county and district councils.  There were other 
reorganisations elsewhere in 1997 and 1998. 

 
15. Following the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, there 

was a further round of local government reorganisation.  It included the creation of 
county unitary authorities in Northumberland, Durham, Cornwall, Wiltshire and 
Shropshire.  The counties of Cheshire and Bedfordshire were also reorganised 
using a two-unitary model, acknowledging that parts of both counties, namely 
Luton, Warrington and Halton, had previously become unitary authorities in 1997.  
The first elections for those new unitary authorities took place in 2008 or 2009. 

 
16. Currently, unitary reorganisation is most advanced in Dorset and 

Northamptonshire.  A reorganisation has been approved in Dorset for two unitary 
councils, one rural and one urban/suburban to reflect the nature of the area, one 
building on an existing unitary.  It is widely known that the splitting of two-tier 
Northamptonshire into two unitaries is not a model for any other reorganisation 
since a single unitary would have been perceived as replacing a failed council with 
another on the same footprint.  

 
Combined Authority Proposal 
 
17. In May 2015 a decision was taken to pursue a Combined Authority proposal for 

Leicester and Leicestershire, bringing the eight councils in the county area 
together with Leicester City Council under a new governance arrangement in order 
to deliver a range of strategic services focused on economic growth and transport 
planning across the area. 

 
18. The Combined Authority proposal for Leicester and Leicestershire, supported by 

the Leicester and Leicestershire Local Enterprise Partnership and the three 
Universities, was submitted to Government in December 2015. However due to 
changes in Government and the prioritisation of combined authority proposals 
which included having an elected mayor, the Leicester/Leicestershire Combined 
Authority proposal was not progressed by Government.  

 

71



 
 

Financial Situation 
 
19. In the circumstances set out below the Cabinet is considering the use of powers 

available to the County Council to establish a unitary structure of local 
government. 
 

20. The principal driver for change through a unitary structure is the financial situation 
facing the County Council and the impact on front-line services. 

 
21. The nation’s public finances have been in a perilous state since the financial crisis 

a decade ago. The crisis instigated the deepest recession in the UK since the 
Second World War. The effects of the recession are still being experienced today. 

 
22. The tax increases and spending cuts that followed the crisis have reduced the 

public sector’s budget deficit to a relatively low level. However, slow economic 
growth over the previous eight years has left public debt at double its pre-crisis 
level, relative to the size of the economy. The expenditure on public debt is 
equivalent to it being the fourth largest government “department” after social 
security, health and education. This level of debt is problematic even though 
Government borrowing costs are at historically low levels. It is a structural problem 
that needs fixing before borrowing costs inevitably increase.   

 
23. To quote the Institute of Fiscal Studies: “With public debt twice its pre-crisis level, 

economic growth remaining sluggish and the population ageing rapidly there will 
be no shortage of tough decisions over the coming decade.”. 

 
24. These tough decisions come in three forms: 

 Boosting economic growth; 

 Tax increases; 

 Cost control. 
 

25. Faster economic growth would be the preferred option for the Government, but 
achieving this has proven elusive. Most medium term economic forecasts suggest 
modest growth, below historic averages, should be expected, which pushes the 
emphasis onto the other two options.  

 
26. There has been some softening of public attitudes towards tax increases and this 

may afford the Government some respite. However, as the funding would be used 
to deal with existing and predicted demand and not service improvement, public 
acceptance is limited. National political uncertainty around Brexit may further 
constrain the Government’s choices. 

 
27. This leaves the Government’s most likely option to be further cost control. The 

acceptance that welfare and NHS expenditure are very difficult to control leaves all 
other Government Departments apprehensive in advance of the Comprehensive 
Spending Review in 2019 (CSR19). Education, Defence and Police are all putting 
forward compelling arguments for additional funding.  The NHS is likely to join this 
chorus to push their annual increase towards the historic average of 4% above 
inflation, compared to the current (unfunded) commitment of 3.4%. 

 

72



 
 

28. Recognition of local government financial problems are mixed at best. The 
interdependency between the NHS and Adult Social Care means that it cannot be 
ignored, although at the time of writing no long term solution has been proposed 
by Government.  The larger problems of Children’s Social Care and Special 
Education Needs do not appear to be grasped outside of the local government 
sector. 

 
29. Local government has not traditionally fared well in spending prioritisation 

decisions against departments such as Health, Education, and Defence. The 
working assumption, for financial planning, is that this situation will continue. 

 
30. CSR19, which will have to reflect the Prime Minister’s statement at the 

Conservative Party Conference ‘that the end of austerity is in sight’, should go 
some way to validating this assumption, although the time period of funding 
projections may be too short to give any lasting certainty. The County Council 
therefore has to keep financial sustainability in its own hands through: 

 Local tax generation; 

 Management of service growth;  

 Development of savings and investment initiatives. 
It is also reasonable in the circumstances to propose wider transformation and 
reform. 

 
31. The local government press and more recently the national media report stories of 

councils who have not planned ahead with the consequence of greater levels of 
service cuts than otherwise would have been required. 

 
32. Northamptonshire County Council is at the forefront of struggling councils. Poor 

leadership and financial management undoubtedly accelerated its decline, but the 
underlying issues of funding cuts coupled with rising demand for services and 
National Living Wage driven cost pressures are the same for all councils with 
social care responsibilities. This leads to the view that Northamptonshire County  
Council’s experience is an insight into the future. 

 
33. The National Audit Office’s financial sustainability report echoes this sentiment. 

The report identifies a 49.1% real terms reduction in Government funding for local 
authorities between 2010/11 and 2017/18 (equating to a 28.6% real terms 
reduction in ‘spending power’, i.e. what the Government defines as the main 
sources of Government funding plus Council Tax) and warns that one in 10 
English Councils (15 in total) with social care responsibilities will not be able to 
balance their budgets within three years. The BBC recently attempted to identify 
the councils most at risk, publishing a list of 11 authorities. The list included eight 
County Councils, all of whom are better funded by the Government than 
Leicestershire County Council. These eight account for nearly one third of the total 
number of County Councils in England, demonstrating the disproportionate 
financial strain being placed on authorities such as Leicestershire. 

 
34. Although deprivation is at a low level in Leicestershire, compared to the rest of 

England, it is not the least deprived county area. There are seven other county 
areas with lower deprivation, but a higher level of funding. The most extreme 
example is Surrey that has lower deprivation, but benefits from £150 per resident 

73



 
 

of additional funding. If Leicestershire was funded by the Government at the same 
level as Surrey it would be £100m better off each year. Surrey is one of the 
councils identified as being in financial difficulty.  It is facing a funding gap rising to 
£94m in 2020/21.  

 
35. Despite being poorly funded Leicestershire County Council is faring better than 

most, due to a proactive approach to planning and savings delivery. The approach 
taken locally is set out in the following paragraphs. 

 
Funding 
 
36. In Leicestershire County Council, being realistic about what resources 

Government is willing and able to assign to local government has ensured that the 
reductions received were not unexpected. A key component of the County 
Council’s strategy has been to campaign for a funding settlement that is 
representative of the needs of the county area.   

 
37. The fair funding campaign has been very successful in gaining national recognition 

that the current system for funding local government is broken. However, the need 
to continue the repair of the nation’s finances will mean sustained additional 
funding for the local government sector is very unlikely. The implementation of fair 
funding will require the reallocation of resources away from highly funded areas. 
The consequence of this and the proposed phased implementation indicate that 
the financial benefit is likely to be relatively disappointing. Hence the potential 
financial benefits of the campaign have not been included in the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). 

 
Service Demand 
 
38. The County Council has accepted that whilst all services can be made more 

efficient and effective it is not always possible to put a cap on cost increases.  
 
39. Care for elderly adults is the largest expenditure area in the County Council’s 

budget. Demographic projections predict continued growth in this area 
compounded by the fact that the average length of time for which people require 
care is increasing. 

 
40. Children’s Social Care, although a smaller portion of the budget than Adult Social 

Care, is the main driver of financial growth. The looked after children population in 
Leicestershire is growing at a rate of 8% per annum. The supply of interventions 
cannot keep pace with demand, driving up costs further. 

 
41. Provision of Special Education Needs has experienced cost growth for some time. 

However, to date this has been contained within the Dedicated School Grant. 
Recent Government changes in the rules around funding and continued increase 
in the number of pupils requiring support have restricted the County Council’s 
ability to manage this budget. This is further compounded by the impact of the 
national funding formula on schools. Schools are required to make savings to 
maintain their current level of provision. This will make it harder to engage schools 

74



 
 

in identifying solutions and it is not unreasonable to expect them to look for ways 
to mitigate savings by seeking to charge costs to other organisations. 

 
42. The current four year MTFS includes £90 million for cost and demand increases. It 

is reasonable to expect that a similar level of increase will be required in the future. 
Taking a realistic estimate of unavoidable demand allows the necessary Council 
Tax increases and savings plans to be put in place. It also allows demand 
management activity to be performed rather than having to deal reactively with 
overspends through emergency cuts. 

 
Savings 
 
43. Since the start of austerity the County Council has recognised the need to invest in 

change and make early decisions in difficult areas. This has allowed the emphasis 
to be kept on efficiency savings, which form 70% of the current savings plans.  
The technical delivery of further efficiency projects is getting more risky requiring 
either significant financial investment, for example the asset investment fund, 
implementation of new solutions, e.g. technology, or more transformational change 
to front-line services. 

 
44. By the end of this financial year the County Council will have delivered £200m of 

savings since the start of austerity in 2010. The majority of these savings have 
been used to fund the rising cost of social care services. 

 
45. Despite these significant savings, which have not been achieved easily, the latest 

financial forecasts predict that a balanced budget will only be achieved for the next 
two years. Beyond this point significant new savings will have to be identified and 
maximum Council Tax increases implemented. This is clearly a worrying scenario 
requiring serious attention. 

 
46. Low funding for Leicestershire is a significant problem making further savings 

difficult and more likely to result in cuts or additional charges rather than 
efficiencies. In short the County Council’s financial position is not sustainable. If 
the financial pressures continue then the visible detrimental impact upon residents 
and partners will inevitably increase through service reduction or cost increases. 

 
47. Even if Government stopped the anticipated future funding reductions, the known 

service demand and inflationary pressures will create a cost pressure of £20 
million p.a. ongoing. If housing growth continues in the county and Government 
allows 1.99% annual council tax increases (without a referendum), only half of this 
cost pressure will be funded, leaving a £10million annual savings requirement. 
Saving at this level is not sustainable on a long term basis and continued 
increases in Council Tax for a reduction in services would not be acceptable to the 
public. 

 
Countywide Finances 
 
48. Financial pressures have not been spread evenly across the different tiers of local 

government organisations. District councils do not have responsibility for social 
care services and Government incentives for new homes and business rate 

75



 
 

growth have disproportionately benefited many districts. The result is that the 
savings requirement has not been on the same scale or had the same impact as 
for county councils. The Government has already signalled its intention to reform 
the New Homes Bonus (currently £18.2m p.a. for Leicestershire), with some 
reductions already implemented. In addition the retained business rate growth 
(currently £15m p.a.) is expected to be removed from annual budgets as part of 
the national funding reforms in 2020/21. The combination of these two funding 
reforms and the several high profile examples of struggling councils with social 
care responsibility are likely to increase the financial pressure on district councils. 

 
49. Using published financial plans and an assumption that cost and funding 

pressures continue at a similar rate to the current planning period, an estimate has 
been made of the savings challenge to the middle of the next decade. This fits with 
the Government’s current aspiration for delivering a balanced budget. 

 

 
 
50. Savings in the chart from 2018/19 to 2021/22 are taken from the latest published 

budgets of the councils in Leicestershire.  The district council savings have been 
averaged, due to different planning periods and use of reserves that distorts the 
timing of savings.  It should be noted that individual councils have taken different 
approaches to the potential changes in future funding. 

 

51. The estimate is for £62 million of savings to be required in Leicestershire (both 
County Council and District Councils).  This estimate already assumes that £57 
million is raised through Council Tax increases, which continue at the maximum 
level permitted by Government. Only two thirds of the estimated savings across 
the County Council and District Councils have formed plans over this period. 

 
Future Uncertainty 
 
52. Current forecasts assume that economic growth continues. However there has 

been a recession in every decade since the 1950s.  As the last was in 2009 it 
would not be surprising for a recession to hit before austerity ends. 

76



 
 

 
53. Taking a more pessimistic view of the economy increases the savings requirement 

significantly, as medium term plans assume a significant level of income growth 
related to new housing and business rates. In the event of a recession housing 
and business growth are likely to stall. 

 
54. There continues to be uncertainty over what agreement will be reached for 

Britain’s exit of the European Union. Regardless of the eventual deal reached 
most commentators believe that there will be an impact on the country’s economic 
activity and the way domestic organisations need to operate. Local government is 
not insulated from these changes. Service departments are dependent upon a fully 
functioning labour market; the local economy is dependent upon business 
investment and consumer confidence; Government funding is dependent upon the 
state of the nation’s finances. 

 
55. Adoption of a unitary structure could be seen as a positive step to financial 

sustainability, as uncertainties could be dealt with more effectively. There is 
thought to be strength in the argument that aside from the financial benefits of re-
organisation, unitary organisations are more responsive to significant changes 
(fewer organisations), make better decisions (preventative services aligned to the 
services they support) and are able to deploy more resources rather than hold 
contingencies (County Council reserve level is 38% versus 97% for the District 
Councils). 

 
Action open to the County Council  

 
56. Adoption of sound financial management has kept Leicestershire County Council 

out of the first wave of crisis councils. This has not been without significant impact 
on the residents of Leicestershire both in the level of council tax and reduction of 
services.  
 

57. As mentioned earlier (paragraph 30) in the financial circumstances identified it is 
reasonable for the County Council to consider transformation and reform which go 
beyond actions in its own hands.  This has been recognised in MTFS reports to 
Council budget meetings.  It is a fact that Leicestershire has an expensive 
structure of local government.  

 
58. At least three of the County Councils identified by the BBC have started to work 

toward a core offer that focuses on statutory requirements and protection of 
vulnerable children and adults. The cuts tend to focus on the universal services 
that the majority of the population value. Examples of services commonly cut 
include: 

 Bus subsidies, highways maintenance, road gritting and road safety 

 Prevention services that promote wellbeing 

 Libraries and heritage 

 Trading Standards service 

 Early Help and Prevention Services, in particular Children’s Centres 
 
59. Whilst some of the service reductions made in Leicestershire have been in these 

areas they are not as severe as they would have been had decisions been 

77



 
 

delayed. Time is important.  The experience of Northamptonshire is that delaying 
simply increases the level of cuts required. By way of example the County Council 
has £270m of debt, and is looking for ways to reduce; other councils have higher 
debt burdens that are likely to increase, for example Northamptonshire County 
Council (£789m) and Surrey County Council (£759m.) 
 

60. District councils have avoided the worst effects of austerity due to their different 
funding mix and nature of services delivered.  As mentioned earlier in the report 
(paragraph 48) the funding pressures on district councils look set to increase and 
some demand pressures, such as homelessness, are also increasing. Should the 
financial pressure increase service provision in key services such as Leisure 
Centres, Waste Collection and Parks would inevitably come under review. 

 
61. Reforming local government in Leicestershire would make cuts to county and 

district services in Leicestershire less likely. 
 
62. In addressing this scale of financial challenge it is a sound principle that demand-

led services create a constant requirement for efficiency improvements to keep 
council tax at an acceptable level, but at the same time wider reform should focus 
on protecting and investing in front line services, provided now by both the County 
Council and the district councils. 

 
 
Joining Up Services 
 
63. A second driver for change through a unitary structure is to join up front-line 

services. 
 
64. Criticism of moving to a unitary structure from a two tier structure is often based on 

a claim that ‘services would no longer be delivered at the local level.’  In any 
structure services are delivered locally, whether personal social care or waste 
collection.  The structure in which they are delivered can help or hinder their 
effectiveness. 

 
65. It is believed that there is a good case to be made that a unitary structure provides 

an opportunity to redesign service delivery in a way which would be better for 
residents, local businesses and partner organisations, as well as bringing benefits 
in financial savings.  Service redesign could be informed by the following 
principles:- 

 Fit for the future, with the agility to adapt to the changing landscape of local 
government; 

 Focus on outcomes, supported by a robust evidence base; 

 Continued value for money, maximising the use of the Leicestershire pound; 

 Simplified service provision; 

 Strengthened relationships with strategic partners and businesses, leading to 
more effective multi-agency decision making and delivery of services. 

 
66. Similarly, there is a good case to be made that fragmentation in service delivery 

and responsibility inevitably can lead to frustration and confusion for members of 
the public and that a unitary structure can correct that. 

78



 
 

 
67. Last year the County Council recorded more than 130,000 web visits where 

someone was confused between the county and district council services.  
Similarly, 11,000 out of 200,000 calls to the Customer Service Centre at the 
County Council were redirected to district councils.  This is inefficient in terms of 
time and money and also slows down the response to the public.  A unitary 
structure would address public enquiries more effectively and make transactions 
quicker and clearer. 

 
Partnership working 
 
68. The creation of a unitary structure for Leicestershire would also improve the 

effectiveness of partnership working across local government, health, business, 
the voluntary and community sector and other local partners.   

 
69. Leicestershire forms part of a wider geographic footprint for key partners: 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) for NHS and emergency services 
except the regional ambulance service; Leicester and Leicestershire for the Local 
Enterprise Partnership.  This can be clumsy and fragmented.  It can be difficult for 
partners to engage in a co-ordinated way with local government services. There 
are examples of an individual council delaying or frustrating a policy initiative, 
causing reputational damage to local government. 

 
 
Services in a Unitary Structure 
 
70. Appendices A - I to this report have been prepared by Chief Officers to show the 

potential benefits of a unitary structure. The appendices also reflect best practice 
examples drawn from County Unitary Councils with a particular focus on service 
delivery models in Cornwall, Wiltshire and Durham. 

 
 
Model Unitary Structure 
 
71. A suggested model unitary structure has been developed for the purposes of this 

report and subsequent stakeholder engagement.  Feedback from this 
engagement, including from the County Council’s Overview and Scrutiny bodies, 
can be used to develop the model further.  For the purposes of exemplification it 
has been based on a single unitary council but this should not be seen as 
indicative of anything other than a position from which discussion can be initiated.  
The County Council recognises that a decision to propose restructuring in 
Leicestershire assumes an invitation from the Secretary of State, and the form 
which any proposal took would be subject to public consultation and further 
development. 

 
72. The model recognises best practice, it utilises research material and seeks to 

address the following:- 
 

 The risk that a removal of a tier of governance could result in a loss of local 
involvement and identity; 

79



 
 

 

 The need to ensure that local accountability is a key building block of the new 
council; 

 

 The perception that the establishment of a unitary structure would create what 
is sometimes called a ‘democratic deficit’; 

 

 The EY Report (2016), referred to later, finding that the transition from two tier 
to single tier worked best where the ambition of increasing community 
participation was explicit from the outset; 
 

 National evidence which shows that community engagement develops social 
networks which can lead to improved health outcomes. 

 
73. The model unitary structure will need to demonstrate the strongest strategic and 

local leadership.  To deliver this, the proposed model adopts the following 
approaches:- 

 
(i) To employ the ‘Cabinet and Strong Leader’ model of governance. 
(ii) To ensure that all councillors act as community leaders and bring that 

experience to strategic decision making for the benefit of the county. 
(iii) To have a clear and simple structure for local partners to engage with. 

 
74. Where a councillor serves on both county and district councils, conflicts of interest 

can arise in decision making.  This model allows a better balance between local 
and strategic issues in the decision making process and the removal of conflict 
between tiers. 

 
75. The removal of a tier of governance for Leicestershire would lead to a reduction in 

the number of councillors.  Such a reduction gives rise to criticism of a ‘democratic 
deficit’ in a unitary structure compared to a two tier structure.  Whilst the role of the 
councillor is not wholly related to the responsibilities of the councillor’s particular 
local authority, it is noted that in two-tier areas, the numbers of district councillors 
will significantly outnumber the county councillors.  In the case of Leicestershire, 
the County Council (55 members) is responsible for 81% of local government 
expenditure and the district councils collectively (254 members) are responsible 
for 19% of that expenditure.  At this stage and subject to the views of the 
Boundary Commission at a later stage, it is suggested that a single unitary council 
for Leicestershire would have 110 councillors; twice the size of the existing County 
Council but reducing the overall number of councillors (across the current county 
and district councils) by 199. 

 
76. Analysis has been undertaken to compare council size and number of electors for 

single tier local authorities, and a ‘line of best fit’ developed. That analysis 
suggests that a council size of 110 would be in line with the council size of other 
unitary authorities comparable in size. This is illustrated in the chart below. 

 
 

80



 
 

 
 
77. The Boundary Commission also considers factors such as governance, scrutiny 

and the role of the councillor when undertaking a review. 
 
78. To strengthen local leadership, recognising that there will be a reduction in the 

number of local elected representatives, it is proposed that the unitary councillor 
would be supported to undertake an enhanced role in supporting the council’s 
strategic direction and a higher profile community leadership role, which would 
include the following:- 

• To act as ‘steward of the place’, i.e. a more identifiable local leadership role, 
working across the locality in partnership with others; 

• To be proactive in supporting, encouraging and enabling community capacity 
building; 

• To build and maintain relationships with local partners and facilitate their 
involvement in the community; 

• To oversee the use of an individual budget for community capacity building/to 
support local projects.  

 
79. It is also proposed that local leadership would be strengthened through the 

development of Local Area Committees.  The building blocks used to define Area 
Committees would be electoral divisions, local delivery arrangements such as the 
health and social care Integrated Locality Teams and parliamentary 
constituencies.  They would also need to have roughly similar sized populations.  

81



 
 

In addition it is crucial that the areas should reflect natural communities in terms of 
the economic and local interests and identities. 

 
80. A suggested role for the Area Committees could be:- 

(i) To provide a locality focus to strategic decision making and be able to 
influence strategic outcomes such as a county-wide Local Plan by acting as a 
key consultee; 

(ii) To set local priorities over and above the core service offer which will be 
consistent across the county; 

(iii) To produce an ‘Area Priority Plan’ reflecting the local priorities and to allocate 
a devolved revenue budget to support delivery of local priorities;  

(iv) To agree some Traffic Regulation Orders and be responsible for some 
delegated funding for local highways measures; 

(v) To engage local residents, organisations and stakeholders in the best way it 
sees fit. 

 
81. Through funding a local priority set out in the Area Priority Plan, an Area 

Committee could also commission an additional service for its locality.  This might 
include areas such as:- 

 Public realm (publicly accessible free and open spaces); 

 Supporting the local economy; 

 Capacity building; 

 Community services (including leisure, culture and art); 

 Promoting community cohesion and wellbeing; 

 Supporting the local voluntary and community sector; 

 Community transport; 

 Community safety measures. 
 
82. It is important that the Area Committees would be able to take decisions which 

have been delegated to them, so they would be formally constituted committees of 
the Unitary Council, although there is no requirement for them to be politically 
balanced.  Each Area Committee could co-opt additional members as it saw fit, 
such as Town and Parish Council representatives or business, voluntary sector 
and statutory partners. 

 
83. In addition to the Area Committees, it is proposed to establish separate Area 

Development Management Sub Boards, spanning the footprint of two or more 
Area Committees, which would be responsible for the local determination of 
planning applications when the Officer Scheme of Delegation does not apply.  The 
membership of these Sub Boards does not need to reflect political balance, 
provided that their remit is limited to local matters. 

 
84. Based on analysis of the current level of business undertaken by District Planning 

Committees, four Area Development Management Sub Boards would determine 
approximately nine planning applications per month, whereas five Area 
Development Management Sub Boards would determine approximately seven 
planning applications per month. 

 
85. The proposed governance model for Planning is set out in the table below.  It is 

acknowledged that there would need to be a regional or sub-regional level to take 

82



 
 

into account the relationships with neighbouring councils, particularly Leicester 
City Council, in terms of economic growth and development. 

 

Level Governance 
Proposal 

Remit 

Unitary 
Level 

Cabinet/ 
Council 

• Development Plan Making:- 
• Single Local Plan (strategic and non-

strategic policies, minerals and waste, 
mineral safeguarding, infrastructure plan)  

• Neighbourhood Plans 
• Local Transport Plan 
• Supplementary Planning Documents (housing, 

energy, historic environment, biodiversity, 
design, green space, landscape) 

• Community Infrastructure Levy (or S106 policy) 
• Other Policy Documents (e.g. Conservation Area 

Appraisals, Development briefs) 

Strategic 
Development 
Management 
Board 

• Response to the impact of major developments 
outside Leicestershire on county residents 

• Determination of Planning Applications for:- 
• Strategic and/or Large scale major 

developments (including Minerals and 
Waste) 

• Developments that are a significant 
departure from policy 

Officers 
(delegated 
decision 
making powers) 

• Planning and other applications (e.g. Listed 
Building Consent, Tree Preservation Orders, 
Rights of Way, Advertisement Control etc.) and 
discharge conditions unless the local member 
makes a sound request that it be considered by 
the Development Management Sub-Board 

• Enforcement Matters  
• Appeals 

Local 
Level 

5 Area 
Development 
Management 
Sub-Boards 
(average 7 
applications per 
month) 

• Planning Applications referred by local members 
• Designation and amendment of conservation 

areas 
• Public Rights of Way 
• Tree Preservation Orders 

Parish 
Level 

Town and 
Parish 
Councils 

• Potential for competent councils (within the 
meaning of the Localism Act 2011) to determine 
minor applications 

• Ability to prepare Neighbourhood Plans 
• Consultee on planning applications 

83



 
 

86. The diagram below illustrates the proposed unitary structure:- 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

U
n
it
a
ry

 L
e
v
e
l 

L
o
c
a
li
ty

 L
e
v
e
l 

P
a
ri
s
h
 

L
e
v
e
l 

Development 
Management 

Board 

Area 
Development 
Management 
Sub-Boards 

Cabinet Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committees 

Area 

Committees 

Parish and Town Councils  

Regulatory Executive Scrutiny  

Full Council 

1 

Licensing 
Committee 

Possible responsibilities 

• Strategic, area wide decision making including social care, 
education, strategic planning, environment and transport, 
regulatory services, housing, leisure and recreation, public health, 
strategic management of revenue and benefits; 

• National, regional and strategic partner engagement. 

• To provide a locality focus to strategic decision making and be able 
to influence strategic outcomes;  

• To set local priorities over and above the core county-wide service 
offer; 

• To produce an ‘Area Priority Plan’ reflecting the local priorities and 
to allocate a devolved revenue budget to support delivery. Local 
Priorities listed in ‘Parish Level’ below as areas for possible 
devolvement to Parish/Town councils; 

• To agree some Traffic Regulation Orders and be responsible for 
some delegated funding for local highways measures; 

• To engage local residents, organisations and stakeholders. 
 

• Where requested, build capacity to take on an enhanced 

community and service delivery role, to possibly include:- 

Public Realm (e.g. grass cutting), Promoting community cohesion, 
wellbeing, Local Economy support, Supporting the local VCS, 
Capacity building, Community Transport Community Services 
(Leisure, Culture, Arts), Community Safety. 

 

84



 
 

Town and Parish Councils  
 
87. Consideration can be given to the creation of new Town Councils to cover 

currently ‘unparished’ areas.  
 
88. Local leadership can be strengthened through giving town and parish councils an 

enhanced role where this is requested.  Key to this would be to ensure where 
powers and responsibilities are devolved that funding is provided.  It is likely that a 
number of existing Parish Councils, as well as any that are newly established, 
would request support to build their capacity to take on an enhanced role, to 
include:- 

 
(i) Engaging with the community to identify and address local issues and 

aspirations; 
(ii) Encouraging social action and developing community managed services; 
(iii) Enhancing their role in service delivery and devolution, including via asset 

transfers. 
 

89. Following the County Council’s Annual Parish Council Liaison Event in July 2018 it 
was mutually agreed to hold a focus group of parish and town councils.  This was 
held on the 20 September and those present provided the following view on the 
principles of a unitary structure for local government in Leicestershire and the role 
local councils could play:  

 
(i) General support,  particularly from larger councils, for a unitary structure 

and strengthening the role of local councils; 
(ii) Appreciation for early engagement and a commitment for ongoing 

discussions. 
 
Literature Review 
 
90. The national financial position has, in recent years, led to the production of reports 

from a number of consultancies and local government commentators about the 
benefits of moving to a unitary structure.  A summary of what appear to be the 
most relevant reports, including the report commissioned from Ernst and Young by 
the County Council in 2014, is set out below. 

 
Ernst & Young (EY) Report February 2014: Strategic Financial Case for a Unitary 
Council for Leicestershire 
 
91. The key findings in this report were as follows:- 

 

 A single unitary council could save up to £30m per annum and would 
generate a Net Present Value saving of nearly £90m over five years.  The 
cost of implementing the required changes was estimated at £12.8m with a 
forecast payback period of just over one year. 
 

 A dual unitary council structure would deliver savings but £12m per annum 
less (39%) compared to a single unitary council.  
 

85



 
 

 Harmonising council tax charges at the lower level would represent greater 
value to the Leicestershire council tax payer.  EY estimated this would cost 
£7.7m per year. 
 

 A stronger locality focus could be achieved through:- 
 

(i) The elimination of municipal boundaries and organisational silos; 
(ii) The simplification of the delivery landscape; and 
(iii) Creation of greater local democratic accountability. 

 

 A unitary council would have greater strategic impact through the reduction in 
the number of individual organisations that need to be involved in 
discussions, planning and delivery.  It would also provide the opportunity to 
create:- 
 

(i) A single planning authority; 
(ii) A single integrated housing strategy; and 
(iii) Strategic planning for the area as a whole. 
 

92. The EY analysis also identified a number of potential liabilities and risks which 
would need to be evaluated in more detail if the case for a unitary council were 
progressed to a further stage including: employee pay harmonisation; service level 
standardisation; and designing an effective democratic structure. 

 
93. It should be noted that, in response to criticisms of this report made by the Liberal 

Democrat Group at the time, there were four points of clarification or correction 
made, viz: 

 

 Names of Councils, page 5 – the titles of Hinckley and Bosworth, Melton and 
Oadby and Wigston were incorrectly shown as district and not borough 
councils. 

 

 Service expenditure, page 5 – as indicated, the figures were extracted from 
Government data and were correct. 

 

 Population figures, page 5 – EY used mid-year population estimates from 
2008.  Later figures could have been used.  

 

 Elected Members, page 25 – the total should have been 309, not 316.  
Incorrect numbers were shown for Blaby, Charnwood and Melton. 

 
94. The above did not impact on the key findings set out in paragraph 91. 

 
95. In developing the case for a unitary structure of local government in Leicestershire, 

officers have reviewed and updated the methodology used by EY. The areas that 
savings can be derived from are similar in the majority of subsequent financial 
studies and still entirely relevant. However, the opportunity has been taken to 
update savings calculations by using the latest published information and to 
broaden the sources of information, where possible, to reduce the likelihood of a 

86



 
 

material error. This is a process that will continue, as new information becomes 
available. 

 
InLoGov Report 2015: Building Better Collaboration - Improving Collaborative 
Behaviours in Local Government 
 
96. This report commissioned by the District Councils’ Network was supportive of 

retaining the status quo.  It focused on the role of district councils and suggested 
that “the energy invested in debates about structure would be better focused on 
improving services and outcomes through collaborative behaviours.  Indeed, 
perhaps the longevity of the present municipal arrangements bears a certain 
amount of testimony to their relative success.  Whilst the arguments about 
confusion for citizens and inefficiency remain; a system that allocates local 
services and a local voice to districts and more strategic and cost-sensitive 
services to counties has stood the test of time”. 

 
97. However, the report recognised shortcomings in the current system and 

recommended greater collaboration between districts as a way of delivering better 
local services, savings and efficiencies.  It found that, because of their size and the 
nature of their services, districts were well placed to lead collaborative projects.  It 
also suggested that behaviour, culture and trust are far more important to 
collaboration than the structures through which people work. 

 
98. The report did not make reference to either the estimated or actual level of savings 

which could achieved through greater collaboration between district councils.  It 
also focussed essentially on district councils rather than the two-tier structure per 
se.   

 
EY Report September 2016: Independent Analysis of Governance Scenarios and Public 
Service Reform in County Areas (National Report) 
 
99. This report examined six scenarios using national data across the then remaining 

27 two-tier counties in England.  The table below shows the indicative level of 
savings for the average county.  The results gave a national picture and it was 
noted that further detailed analysis would be required to ascertain precise savings 
in each area.  Nevertheless the proposed savings for the average council were 
broadly in line with other studies. 

 

Scenario Payback Period Annual saving post 
implementation  

Single Unitary Two years two months £23m - £29m 

Two Unitaries Three years two months £13m - £19m 

Three Unitaries Seven years £4m - £10m 

Shared support 
services 

Four years eleven months £2m - £8m 

Merged Districts Three years eight months £6m – £10m 

Three Unitaries and a 
Combined Authority 

Seven years plus £3m - £10m 

 

87



 
 

100. Figures are based on an average county size i.e. population of 800,000 and spend 
of £930m. For comparison, Leicestershire’s population is 690,212 with a spend of 
£791m. 

 
101. The report also highlighted the savings achieved by the unitary councils created in 

2008/9 reorganisations, compared to their projected savings.  This is illustrated in 
the table below.  In most cases, savings exceeded the target set, based on 
whether the council took opportunities to redesign structures and services and 
deliver transformation or whether they simply re-organised and ‘scaled up’ current 
ways of working.   

 

Unitary Projected Saving Estimated savings achieved 

Cornwall £17m per year £25m per year 

Wiltshire £18m per year £25m per year 

Northumberland £17m per year £28m per year 

Durham £22m per year £22m in year one 

Shropshire £20m per year £20m per year 

 
102. In terms of public sector reform, the report found a correlation between the 

scenario that delivers the highest level of savings and that which relates best to 
key areas of public service reform.  Areas such as social care and health 
integration, economic growth, transport, crime and financial viability and 
sustainability benefit from maximising economies of scale, clear governance, 
enhanced coterminous boundaries with partner agencies and high change 
capacity. 

 
103. The report also noted that all the larger county unitary authorities established in 

2009 have implemented models which enhance community governance and 
address the risks highlighted in the report. 

 
ResPublica Report (November 2017): Devo 2.0: The Case for Counties (National 
Report) 
 
104. The report found that due to funding pressures and increased demands on key 

services, maintaining the status quo of local government structures in two-tier 
areas such as Leicestershire is not an option.  County unitaries would provide a 
recognised and identifiable unit of administration that corresponds to the 
appropriate scale of operation required for strategic decision making and 
development.  

 
105. The District Councils’ Network responded to this report by arguing that local 

government reorganisation should focus on the needs of local people and place at 
a local geography residents can recognise and relate to, where incentives to grow 
can be seen to work and where councils are small enough to solve problems one 
family at a time.  The question of what constitutes a ‘local geography’ was left 
open. 

 
 
 

88



 
 

Legislative Position and Government Criteria for Reorganisation to a Unitary 
Structure 
 
106. Part 1 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 sets 

out a procedure for local government structural and boundary changes in England. 
This provides for the Secretary of State to invite any 'principal authority' (defined 
as a County or District Council) to make one of the following proposals:- 

 

 Type A: a proposal for a single tier of local government for a county area 
based on existing county boundaries. 

 

 Type B: a proposal for a single tier of local government for an area which is 
currently a district or two or more districts based on existing district boundaries. 

 

 Type C: a proposal for a combination of a whole county or one or more 
districts in that county with an adjoining county or counties or district(s). 

 

 A combined proposal: a combined proposal is a proposal consisting of (1) 
one or more Type B proposals and one or more Type C proposals; or (2) two 
or more Type B proposals or (3) two or more Type C proposals. 

 
107. The invitation from the Secretary of State may either specify the type of proposal 

invited or allow the Authority to choose the type of proposal it submits.  In 
responding to an invitation, the Authority is required to have regard to any 
guidance from the Secretary of State on what a proposal should seek to achieve 
and matters to be taken into account in formulating a proposal. Guidance issued in 
2006 (‘Invitations to Councils in England’) sets out the approach and criteria with  
which proposals were required to conform as follows: 

 
“i) the change to the future unitary local government structures must be: 

 affordable, i.e. that the change itself both represents value for money and can 
be met from councils’ existing resource envelope; and 

 supported by a broad cross section of partners and stakeholders; and 
 

ii) those future unitary local government structures must: 

 provide strong, effective and accountable strategic leadership; 

 deliver genuine opportunities for neighbourhood flexibility and empowerment; 
and 

 deliver value for money and equity on public services”. 
 
108. Following the Caller report on Northamptonshire County Council in February 2018, 

the Secretary of State (in his invitation letter for revised structural proposals to the 
Northamptonshire principal authorities) provided guidance as follows: 

 
“A proposal should seek to achieve for the area concerned the establishment of a 
single tier of local government, that is the establishment of unitary authorities:  
 

a. which are likely to improve local government and service delivery across 
the area of the proposal, giving greater value for money, generating 

89



 
 

savings, providing stronger strategic and local leadership, and which are 
more sustainable structures;  
 

b.  which command a good deal of local support as assessed in the round 
overall across the whole area of the proposal; and  

 
c. where the area of each unitary authority is a credible geography consisting 

of one or more existing local government areas and having a substantial 
population that at a minimum is substantially in excess of 300,000”.  

 
109. On receipt of a proposal in response to an invitation, the Secretary of State for 

Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) may request advice from 
the Local Government Boundary Commission on any matter relating to the 
proposal. 

 
110. The Secretary of State may:- 
 

a. Make an order implementing the proposal with or without modification; 
 

b. Implement an alternative proposal submitted by the Local Government 
Boundary Commission with or without modification; or 

 
c. Decide to take no action. 

 
111. Before making any order, the Secretary of State is required to consult every 

Authority affected by the proposal (except the authority or authorities which made 
the proposal) and such other persons as he considers appropriate. 

 
Options and Appraisal 
 
112. The Cabinet decision of 6 July requested outline proposals for a unitary structure.  

The following initial appraisal looks at two options: a single unitary council and two 
unitary councils.  The MHCLG population criterion alone rules out a three way split 
and also challenges a two way split. 

 
113. At this outline proposal stage, the approach adopted in the options appraisal is to 

consider financial and non-financial aspects. It draws on learning from other 
Councils (single and dual Unitary Councils within a county). 

 
114. The Cabinet decision of 6 July did not request an analysis of the status quo.  The 

current thinking is that retention of a two-tier structure in any form, however, could 
not be expected to meet fully the requirements of the drivers for change identified 
elsewhere in this report. 

 
Financial Assessment 
 
115. The following table summarises the financial implications of the two options set out 

above. More detailed financial information, including a breakdown of where the net 
annual savings come from, is included in paragraphs 118 – 122. 

 

90



 
 

Option Net annual 
Saving 

4 year MTFS 
saving 

Cost of 
implementation 

1 Single unitary 
Council for 
Leicestershire 

£30m £100m £19m 

2 Two unitary 
Councils for 
Leicestershire 

£18m £60m £18m 

  
116. Savings for both options are derived in a similar way and are set out in the table 

below. The key differences reducing the financial benefits of the two unitary option 
are: 

a. County wide services need splitting to create two new services. This 
results in additional senior and middle management. 

b. More organisations exist, which will require a greater total level of back 
office and infrastructure support. These costs tend to be fixed in nature. 

c. The two unitary councils are smaller organisations than the existing 
County Council, resulting in a loss of purchasing power. 

d. Salaries to attract the right people will not be materially lower in the 
smaller organisations. For some posts, where there is already a shortage 
of good candidates, salaries are likely to be the same. 

 

Category Savings Rationale 

Members 
Allowances 

Fewer organisations will mean that the number of elected members 
can be reduced, although those that remain will have greater 
responsibility.  
 

Elections Elections for district and county members are held in different 
years. Having one set of elections for fewer members will cost less. 
The operations to maintain the register of electors can also be 
combined. 
 

Senior 
Management 

A management structure is required to manage each organisation 
and the services within it. Having fewer organisations and joining 
up similar services will mean that management savings can be 
realised.  
 

Back office Joining up and running services in a similar way will simplify the 
back office support requirements greatly. Combined with the benefit 
of only having one set of back office services rather than one in 
each organisation will allow support to converge on common 
systems, infrastructure, policy and process.  
Benefit is enhanced by fewer staff in totality reducing the office 
space requirements. 
  

Service 
management and 
administration 

Joining up and running services in a similar way will allow 
management and administration roles to be combined and the best 
practice from the current disparate services to be selected for the 
whole county.  Further benefit will be secured from improved 
procurement and contract management. 

91



 
 

117. The implementation costs for both options are derived in a similar way and are set 
out in the table below. The single unitary option benefits from there being no 
requirement to disaggregate services and the dual unitary option is cheaper in 
some areas due to the lower level of change and related savings. 

 

Category Rational 

Staff redundancy 
cost 

A significant proportion of the unitary financial benefits comes 
from reducing the number of staff employed, particularly at a 
senior level. Staff have a legal and contractual right to 
compensation for loss of their job. 
 

Cost of integrating 
and 
decommissioning IT 
systems 

Investment will be needed to integrate and replace the core 
service systems, including the merging of necessary historic 
service information.  

Transformation team An integration team will be required to perform the detailed 
service design work for the new organisation/s, implement the 
changes and ensure service continuity. 
 

Support functions 
(Finance, HR, Legal, 
etc.) 

The integration team will need access to significant levels of 
specialist advice and support. 

Communications Residents and partners will need to understand any changes to 
their access of services. 
 

Merging of 
Operations  

It is likely that there will be instances of contracts being 
terminated early to avoid duplication of running costs.  
Organisations differences will also need to be removed so that a 
unitary council operates as one organisation, for example 
harmonisation of employment terms and conditions. 
 

 
118. The latest estimate of cost and benefits is set out in the table below. The majority 

of savings could be made without any impact upon the services delivered to 
residents. The savings that do impact front line services are limited to 
administration, management and procurement activity that should not be 
detrimental to the actual service and in some cases beneficial. Even for services 
where a successful local partnership is operating improvements are expected to 
be delivered, for example: 

a. Co-ordination of seven different organisations in a partnership requires 
significant management and administration effort.  In a single organisation 
governance arrangements can be much less bureaucratic with fewer 
meetings and less co-ordination required. 

b. Disagreements between organisations do not arise. 
c. Formal agreements such as legal contracts and for information sharing do 

not need to be put in place. 
d. Quicker decision making is possible with just one governing organisation 

and a more straightforward relationship for partners. 
 
 

92



 
 

 

Annual Savings Single Unitary 
£ million 

Two unitary 
£ million 

Difference 
£ million 

Members Allowances 0.5 0.3 0.2 40% 

Elections 0.9 0.9 0.0 0% 

Senior Management 5.6 3.5 2.1 38% 

Back office 17.4 10.5 6.9 40% 

Service management 
and administration 

8.5 5.3 3.2 38% 

Contingency (2.9) (2.9) - 0% 

Total 30.0 17.6 12.4 41% 

     

Implementation cost (19.0) (17.5) 1.5 7% 

 
119. The expected payback period for the single unitary would be within two years of 

the organisation being created. Senior management and democracy savings 
would be delivered from day one, benefiting from advanced design work.  A 
significant proportion of back-office costs would also be delivered early although 
not all due to the requirement to close the old organisations and the phased expiry 
of contracts. Similarly the service management and administration savings would 
be phased, reflecting the likelihood of longer term contracts and the focus on back-
office savings. 
 

120. The implementation of a dual unitary structure is only cheaper due to the lower 
level of redundancies. The payback would take longer due to the proportionately 
higher implementation costs and the complexity of dividing up services such as 
social care. 

 
121. A contingency has been included against the savings to reflect the early 

development stage of these proposals. As more information becomes available it 
may be possible to increase the savings delivery. 

 
122. The financial estimates will be updated as new information becomes available. 

Before any business case were submitted to Government it is expected that 
independent verification of the modelling would be undertaken. 

 
Beneficiaries of savings 

 
123. Austerity will dictate that the majority of savings will go towards ensuring the on-

going sustainability of services. This would allow existing services to be protected 
from cuts that would otherwise be inevitable. Ultimately which services are 
protected will be a matter for the unitary council, but this would be informed by 
public consultation. 
 

124. Adoption of a unitary council would mean that some of the direct financial benefit 
was naturally shared with residents through harmonisation of Council Tax. 
Residents in a unitary council’s geography would all pay the same level of tax, 
which is usually set at the level of the lowest district council charge. For the single 
unitary council up to £8 million of the savings would be used for reduced Council 
Tax bills, although the final number would depend upon the impact upon town and 

93



 
 

parish councils and actual level of charges.  The reduction in Council Tax bills for 
a two unitary model is potentially less, as the lowest charging district council would 
be different in each unitary area unless a conscious choice was made to reduce 
bills in an identical way. 
 

125. The future financial situation is very uncertain, but the proposed scale and speed 
of savings delivery should create the ability for some investment in services. 
Devolved revenue budgets to support delivery of local priorities have been 
mentioned earlier in the report.  Capital investment, for example for leisure 
facilities or improvements to roads, is another option that can be used to improve 
local services in a targeted way. There should also be sufficient resources to 
invest and improve some countywide services. Gaining the views of Leicestershire 
residents would be vital in targeting investment at the right areas. 

 
Non-financial assessment 
 
126. The options been evaluated against the MHCLG non-financial criteria together 

with similar studies that have been undertaken elsewhere within the country. In 
summary: 

 
127. Option One: A single unitary council for Leicestershire. A single unitary model 

would reduce the number of elected members, but would strengthen their role as 
explained in paragraphs 71 – 86.  It would create the opportunity to reduce the 
number of senior and middle managers and more importantly to integrate the 
delivery of local government services in Leicestershire.  Combined, these would 
be likely to improve outcomes for citizens and business and to reduce the cost of 
the Council being in business, giving rise to the possibility of Council Tax being 
reduced, key services better protected against further funding pressures and 
certain services being enhanced. 

 
128. Option Two: Two unitary councils for Leicestershire: A two unitary model for 

Leicestershire would be likely to bring many of the benefits to citizens and 
businesses described in Option 1 (a single unitary council for Leicestershire) and 
would see relatively more elected members. It would, however, mean that there 
would be duplication in democracy and organisational structure: two senior 
leadership teams, two Council Cabinets, two ways of delivering services in 
different parts of the County. It would also mean that creating a single transport 
and housing plan for the County and working with strategic partners would be 
more difficult. Whilst a two council model could base its design on collaboration 
and shared services between the councils, it is an accepted position in national 
studies that the savings are reduced by as much as approximately 40% compared 
to developing a single Council. 

 
129. The criterion relating to a ‘good deal of local support’ cannot be tested without 

stakeholder engagement and subsequent public consultation. 
 
 

94



 
 

Appraisal 
 

Government Criteria Option 1: Single Unitary Council Option 2: Two Unitary Councils 

Credible geography  ‘Leicestershire’ is a well-established and 
recognised name. 

 Leicestershire is the outer circle of a functional 
economic area, Leicester and Leicestershire, 
recognised by Government.  The 
interdependencies of city and county are a key 
part of that functional coherence in terms of the 
economy, employment and infrastructure. 

 Any division of Leicestershire, say north/south 
or east/west would have to demonstrate how 
this was not an arbitrary division.  The only 
comparable division has been the two County 
CCGs (West; East and Rutland) but they are 
now moving into a single arrangement 
covering either all of Leicestershire (and 
Rutland) or LLR (City, County and Rutland). 

 In other counties the only instance of a two-
way split was Cheshire, now East and West. 
 

Population 
substantially in 
excess of 300,000 

Leicestershire’s population is 690,212 (mid-2017 
population estimate). 

A population substantially in excess of 300,000 is 
unlikely to be a population just below or just above 
a 5% excess.  To exemplify, a north/south split 
would be 331,369 and 358,843. 
 

Improves service 
delivery, including 
innovation 

 Integration of services, genuinely joined up in 
planning and delivery. 

 Confusion over responsibilities eliminated for 
public and organisations. 

 Reinvestment in front-line services. 

 Innovation opportunities, e.g. greater 
digitalisation, property rationalisation. 

 Benefits would be similar to a single unitary 
but on a smaller scale. 

 The disadvantages of the disaggregation of 
social care services, now on a county footprint, 
would have to be taken into account, including 
the impact on partners and safeguarding 
boards and related arrangements. 
 

Greater value for 
money 

 Council tax and business rates income 
maximised on front-line services, not expensive 
management tiers and corporate costs. 

 ‘Overhead costs’, i.e. support services reduced 
to 6% in line with the County Council costs. 
Districts’ average cost is 15%. 

The duplication of departments, management 
teams/structures and service providers for two 
councils would reduce the value for money to the 
taxpayer. 

95



 
 

Government Criteria Option 1: Single Unitary Council Option 2: Two Unitary Councils 

Yield significant cost 
savings 

Predicted savings are £30m per year. 
 

Predicted savings are £17.6m per year. 

Provide stronger 
strategic and local 
leadership 

 Strategic leadership provided by a single, 
elected voice able to speak for Leicestershire on 
all local government and public sector and other 
matters affecting the county. 

 Local leadership strengthened through Area 
Committees with delegated decision making 
and devolved funding. 

 Opportunity for town councils: large settlements 
and market towns currently without a town 
council include Coalville, Hinckley, 
Loughborough, Market Harborough and Melton 
Mowbray. 
 

 Strategic leadership would be less effective 
with no single voice for Leicestershire. 

 Engagement with regional agreements, 
neighbouring councils and partnership working 
could be problematic in the event of 
disagreement. 

 Local leadership would in part be dependent 
on the credibility of the locality and if this 
option offered the opportunity for new town 
councils. 

Delivering a more 
sustainable structure 
in respect of finance, 
partnership and 
beyond. 

 Ongoing reinvestment in front-line services 
through significant annual savings and 
economies of scale. 

 Creates optimum integration of health and 
social care with CCGs moving from the present 
three to one for LLR or two (one county, one 
city). 

 The ongoing benefits in terms of savings, 
reinvestment in services and consolidation of 
services would not be as great compared to a 
single unitary. 

 The need to create two social care authorities 
to replace one would be unhelpful and 
unwelcome in operational and planning terms 
to NHS partners locally, regionally and 
nationally. 

96



 
 

Working Party 
 
130. At its meeting on 26 September the County Council resolved: 

 
a) That this Council: 

 
i) notes that plans for a unitary structure of government in principle for 

Leicestershire were drawn up after a positive endorsement by the 
Conservative Group at its meeting on 26th June 2018 and were 
communicated promptly and appropriately to stakeholders in the usual 
way; 

 
ii) has started a much needed and long overdue debate on the future 

provision of local government services in the county, which leaders of the 
seven district councils have recognised is in need of reform; 

 
iii) recognises that continuing austerity and cost pressures for services are 

placing councils of all types in an impossible financial position, requiring 
Councils such as Leicestershire to consider a unitary structure; 

 
iv) recognises that plans for an East Midlands Strategic Alliance to 

counterbalance the West Midlands Combined Authority require further 
work and agreement amongst regional leaders and stakeholders before a 
business case is submitted to the Secretary of State; 

 
v) notes that the information to be provided in the Cabinet report will allow 

Members to undertake detailed scrutiny of the level of savings including 
savings that have been achieved by other Councils who have already 
undertaken local government reorganisation;  

 
vi) recognises that Leicestershire County Council must be allowed to pursue 

its right to self-determination of policy via the democratic process and that 
this Council respects the rights of other local authorities to do the same. 

 
b) That this Council notes:- 

 
i) That in line with the decision of the Cabinet on 6th July 2018 proposals for 

a new unitary structure for local government in Leicestershire will be 
published in a report to the Cabinet on Friday 5th October; 
 

ii) That the proposals will provide a basis and framework for Scrutiny 
Bodies, members and stakeholders to consider and make representations 
on the future shape of local government in Leicestershire; 

 
c) That recognising the need for member involvement, a cross party group be 

established to consider the proposals and advise the Cabinet on the next 
steps including a timescale for consultation; 

 

97



 
 

d) That the Chief Executive be asked to include proposed terms of reference for 
the cross party working group in the report to the Cabinet on 16th October, 
2018. 

 
131. In respect of parts c) and d) of the resolution, the following terms of reference for 

the working group/party are proposed for consideration: 
 
(i) To consider and receive feedback on the proposals put forward by the 

Cabinet on 16th October and in the light of this and any work and analysis 
may undertake to advise the Cabinet on the next steps. 
 

(ii) In undertaking this role, to recognise the separate and distinct role of the 
Scrutiny Commission and its Committees to examine the Cabinet’s 
proposals. The Working Party will consider the views and comments made 
by the Scrutiny Commission and its Committees. 

 
(iii) To consider also the views and representations made by stakeholders.  

 
(iv) If it wishes, to consider any alternative proposals put forward by a District 

Council(s). 
 

(v) To be able to commission work on issues that it considers may assist it in 
discharging its prime role of advising the Cabinet on the way forward. 

 
132. Whilst the meetings of the Working Group will be in private to allow it to explore 

issues and options in detail, the reports it produces will be in the public domain. 
 
133. As the Leader referred to at the County Council meeting on 26 September, the 

working party will have a politically balanced membership of ten: 
Conservative  7 
Liberal Democrat 2 
Labour   1 

This enables representation to include members with an electoral division in each 
district area. 

 
Strategic Alliance 
 
134. There is little to report since the meeting of the Cabinet on 6 July, but to recap: 
 

 The East Midlands is disadvantaged in terms of the ability to influence 
Government and attract investment or devolution opportunities compared to the 
West Midlands. There is an elected mayor and a combined authority for the 
West Midlands.  Their most recent devolution deal (2017) includes £6m for a 
housing delivery taskforce, £5m for a construction skills training scheme and 
£250m to be spent on local intra-city transport priorities.  The first devolution 
deal (2015) included over £1bn investment to boost the West Midlands 
economy. 

 

98



 
 

 Effective leadership of the combined authority lies with the elected mayor and 
the leaders of the 7 constituent authorities, all unitary.  There is also a category 
of ‘non-constituent authorities’ which includes other councils and LEPs. 

 

 The East Midlands has delivered the highest GVA relative to public investment 
in transport of any UK nation or region since 2010.  Yet, with a population of 
over 4.5m is the biggest industrial area not to have a devolution deal. 

 

 The table below extracted from the most recent HM Treasury report gives 
examples of how the East Midlands is losing out to the West Midlands: 
 

 Economic Affairs Of which: Transport 

 
2011-12 
outturn 

2015-16 
outturn 

% 
increase  

2011-12 
outturn 

2015-16 
outturn 

% 
increase  

South East 416 591 42.1 213 365 71.4 

West 
Midlands 

430 505 17.4 206 342 66.0 

London 869 1,196 37.6 649 973 49.9 

England 534 664 24.3 298 444 49.0 

South West 443 508 14.7 188 277 47.3 

Yorks & 
Humber 

510 615 20.6 259 380 46.7 

North West 496 603 21.6 275 401 45.8 

UK 596 703 18.0 319 441 38.2 

North East 527 558 5.9 223 299 34.1 

East 543 610 12.3 286 365 27.6 

East Midlands 465 475 2.2 209 260 24.4 

 

Infrastructure 
Projects 

£ per head 
(15/16) 

London 1,079 

North West 702 

England 582 

Yorks & Humber 489 

South East 488 

East 468 

West Midlands 445 

South West 428 

North East 418 

East Midlands 352 

 
 

Railway 
Expenditure 

£ per head 
(15/16) 

London 746 

England 251 

North West 203 

East 191 

South East 180 

Yorks & Humber 180 

West Midlands 143 

North East 110 

South West 94 

East Midlands 91 

 

Source: HMT Public Expenditure Statistical Analysis 2017.

99



 
 

 

 The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, who 
is the Midlands Engine Champion, has asked the East Midlands County 
Leaders for a business case for a strategic alliance by the end of 2018.  
Derbyshire County Council has been leading on this work.  Leicestershire 
County Council has set out its position that currently more work is required in 
regard to clarity of purpose, governance and ‘asks’ of Government, to be 
undertaken in conjunction with the three city councils. 
 

135. At the time of writing it is not possible to expand on the announcement by the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer at the Conservative Party Conference to establish a 
development corporation for the area around Toton, linked to the planned HS2 
hub. 

 
Conclusion 
 
136. The Cabinet resolution of 6 July requested officers to undertake work on the 

development of a unitary structure and to prepare outline proposals.  Taking 
account of the Government’s criteria for new unitary councils, two options have 
been identified. 
 

137. The financial and non-financial initial appraisal points to a single countywide 
unitary structure for Leicestershire as the best fit against the Government’s criteria 
and therefore the best model for meeting present and future challenges. 

 
138. The key benefit of a single unitary structure for Leicestershire would be to 

maximise financial savings to protect and invest in front-line services currently 
provided by both the County Council and the District Councils.  Other benefits 
drawn from the initial appraisal include:- 

 
a. A single point of accountability and responsibility for the quality and 

consistent delivery of all council services, led by a single executive 
function and a single managerial function; 

 
b. A single platform on which to build more effective partnerships with 

business and other public sector bodies, notably the NHS; 
 
c. A single geography for economic growth, with one council accountable for 

spatial planning, asset management, housing, infrastructure and transport. 
 
d. A enhancement of existing county-wide social care, public health and 

safeguarding services by integrating responsibilities for housing, benefits 
and leisure and amenity services. 

 
139. The initial key challenge to a single unitary structure for Leicestershire would be to 

provide assurance that residents and local communities feel connected to the work 
of the new Council and are able to shape their communities, based on local need. 
 

100



 
 

140. A two unitary council structure would not maximise financial savings. The initial 
appraisal also shows that benefits overall would be less than in a single unitary 
council and that in particular:- 

 
a. The establishment of two unitary councils would require the 

disaggregation of existing county-wide services such as Children’s and 
Adults Social Care, creating additional management and service delivery 
cost and potential inconsistency in service; 
 

b. More widely, the opportunities afforded by a single unitary structure 
cannot be present. 

 
141. This model would be challenged in relation to any natural geography, how it would 

work with partners, with the functional economic area of Leicester and 
Leicestershire, and how it would relate to local communities. 

 
Equalities and Human Rights Implications 
 
142. Due to the complexity and scope of the proposal and possible wide scale impact of 

the changes proposed the Council will adopt a strategic approach to conducting 
EHRIAs. 
 

143. EHRIAs will be carried out during all programme phases and stages to create a 
new unitary structure. Through such an approach the council will meet the Public 
Sector Equality Duty by delivering the following objectives: 

 

 Identifying and seeking to mitigate the potential equality and human rights 
impacts of the proposal on those with protected characteristics. 

 Identifying and seeking to maximise the equality and human rights 
opportunities of the proposal for those with protected characteristics. 

 Ensuring that a unitary structure for Leicestershire will positively contribute to 
the elimination of discrimination and the advancement of equality for all. 

 Adopting a “Vision Statement” for Equality and Diversity for the unitary 
structure for Leicestershire that demonstrates positively and proactively 
promotes the elimination of discrimination and advancement of equality for all. 

 
Background Papers 
 
144. Report to the Cabinet on 6 July 2018 - East Midlands Strategic Alliance and 

Unitary Government in Leicestershire – Timetable for Consideration 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b12920/Urgent%20Item%20-
%20Strategic%20Alliance%20and%20Single%20Council%20-
%20Timetable%20Friday%2006-Jul-2018%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9 

 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Children and Families 
Appendix B – Adults and Communities 
Appendix C – Health and Care Integration 
Appendix D – Public Health 

101

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b12920/Urgent%20Item%20-%20Strategic%20Alliance%20and%20Single%20Council%20-%20Timetable%20Friday%2006-Jul-2018%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b12920/Urgent%20Item%20-%20Strategic%20Alliance%20and%20Single%20Council%20-%20Timetable%20Friday%2006-Jul-2018%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b12920/Urgent%20Item%20-%20Strategic%20Alliance%20and%20Single%20Council%20-%20Timetable%20Friday%2006-Jul-2018%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9


 
 

Appendix E – Environment and Transport (attached to the report) 
Appendix F – Economic Growth and Development 
Appendix G – Regulatory Services 
Appendix H – Combined Property Service 
Appendix I – Revenue Collection 

102



SERVICES IN A UNITARY STRUCTURE 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

Introduction 

1. Consideration of a possible unitary structure for Leicestershire presents an 
opportunity to consider whether to redesign how services are delivered by 
local government, and if so what form the redesigned structure should take.  
The focus is on how better outcomes can be delivered for residents, local 
business and partner organisations, and how local government can best work 
with those organisations recognising the challenging times ahead as a result 
of public sector finance restraints.  This appendix, and other appendices 
prepared in part to facilitate discussion at scrutiny bodies, set out the 
opportunities that a unitary structure could afford to each service, as well as 
some examples of best practice from the county unitary councils established 
in 2009.   
 

2. This appendix should be read alongside the analysis of options in the Cabinet 
report.  In the ‘Opportunities’ section and case studies which follow, it is 
logical, however, to presume that some changes offer the greatest benefits in 
a single unitary structure. 

Background 

3. The Environment and Transport Department undertakes a wide range of 
services including: highway maintenance, waste disposal, bidding for capital 
funding and delivering major transport schemes, providing school and other 
specialist transport, providing a network of recycling and household waste 
sites, maintaining the authority’s vehicle fleet, blue badges, parking permits, 
concessionary travel passes and a range of environmental services.  
 

4. Many of our services are universal (for example looking after the roads and 
disposing of household waste) and impact on the lives of all of 
Leicestershire’s residents.  
 

5. Under the current two tier system of local government a number of these 
functions sit entirely with the County Council however in some cases different 
elements of the same service are delivered by both tiers.  For example, 
district councils collect waste, while the County Council disposes of it.  District 
councils pick up litter and clean streets, while the County Council maintains 
the roads.  In some cases, such as grass cutting, both the County Council and 
the district councils cut the grass that falls within their responsibility e.g. 
highway grass by the county and parks by districts. 

Opportunities for the Service presented by a Unitary Structure 

6. Services can be better delivered by unifying the services now provided by 
eight councils.  Some of the main opportunities and advantages of this would 
be: 

APPENDIX E 
103



 Simplifying environment and transport services for residents, dealing with 
a unitary council, providing a single point of contact and easier access to 
local authority services 

 Consistency of environment and transport services, one policy, one set of 
service standards, clear expectations  

 Reducing administrative and back office costs, without impacting on front 
line services, enabling more efficient delivery of outcomes for residents 

 Reducing running costs, for example all eight authorities currently own, 
lease and maintain a fleet of vehicles  and operate depots – this can be 
done much more efficiently under a unitary council with rationalisation of 
property assets, whilst also creating opportunities for maximising the 
operational efficiency of plant, vehicles and depots 

 Economies of scale – a unitary council would be in a much stronger buying 
position and better placed to negotiate contracts to achieve best value for 
Leicestershire residents 

 Better for business – organisations doing business in Leicestershire would 
deal with a unitary authority, helping to make Leicestershire more 
attractive for investment 

 Opportunities to explore the combination of services currently delivered by 
several councils; for example street scene services currently provided by 
the districts such as fly tipping, street sweeping and dog fouling could be 
combined with other environmental services currently provided by the 
County Council, such as grass cutting, forestry and gully emptying; leading 
to more streamlined, efficient and cost effective service delivery 

 Administering taxi licensing (currently a district council function) in a 
unitary authority would allow a consistent approach to licensing and closer 
integration with the management of school and social care transport with 
third party providers.  It would also facilitate targeted enforcement ensuring 
consistent standards for vehicles and drivers. 
  

7. From a strategic perspective, the Highways and Transport branch focuses a 
large part of its work on ‘enabling’ delivery of wider outcomes such as 
economic growth or regeneration and unlocking housing growth.  A unitary 
authority would facilitate the following strategic opportunities: 

 Coherent, universal place making strategies incorporating many elements 
currently delivered across several councils for both maintaining and 
improving existing key locations such as employment, retail and 
community centres (including the highway and transport connections) as 
well as designing new growth areas with opportunities for development to 
promote green and health initiatives, support aging and growing population 
challenges. Currently the Department has a partial role to play in all of 
these objectives.  A unitary authority would maximise the benefits of any 
infrastructure or improvement schemes by considering a wider set of 
outcomes at the design stage. 

 A single voice to promote priorities for public funding to major funding 
bodies such as Department for Transport, Ministry for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government with equal resource and experience 
available across the area. 

104



 Clear accountability for highways and transport issues which is currently 
split across authorities.  For instance, the County Council is the highway 
authority and responsibilities include producing the local transport plan, 
acting as statutory consultee to the planning process, maintaining the 
function and operation of the highway; district councils are responsible for 
street cleansing and litter collection, grounds maintenance, regeneration 
schemes (also undertaken by the County Council), street trading and 
various licensing issues.  A unitary authority would ensure the public had 
clear visibility of roles and responsibilities as well as providing 
opportunities around utilisation of equipment, skills and resource.   

 Efficient approval and delivery processes – often highway schemes and 
proposals are linked to wider objectives and may be delivered by the 
highway authority on behalf of the district.  This often requires two sets of 
approval processes or complex and time consuming legal agreements.  A 
unitary authority would remove the need for this saving time and money 
that could be used to deliver a larger programme.  

Existing Unitary Council Best Practice 

8. Durham Council: Significant benefits came from structural changes such as 
bringing together all the ‘place shaping’ functions into one unitary 
authority.  Transport, economic development, planning and housing working 
together on regeneration plans, for example, has proved to be extremely 
successful, whether implementing the authority’s own schemes or as a ‘one 
shop stop’ for potential developers.  The introduction of a unitary council in 
Durham has resulted in a strong single focus on delivering economic benefits 
for the county. 
 

9. Wiltshire Council: As part of the move to a unitary structure, rationalised its 
estate from 95 buildings to 3 main office hubs and contributed to a 15% 
reduction in CO2 emissions from local authority buildings.  The harmonisation 
of waste services supported a significant reduction in waste going to landfill.  
Wiltshire’s vision for empowering local communities led to the formation of 
Area Boards which oversee grants that lever in £6 for every £1 spent, agree 
improvement works for highways and prioritise street scene works.  In the first 
two years as a unitary council, Wiltshire Council increased customer 
satisfaction by 18%. 
 

10. Wiltshire Council also harmonised waste collection and disposal to improve 
household recycling performance and reduce waste to landfill from 56% to 
37% (a reduction of 19%). 

Case Studies 

11. The Environment and Transport Department has identified two services where 
different elements are currently delivered by the County Council and the 
district councils, waste management and parking.  
 

12. It should be stressed that these case studies are designed to represent a brief 
overview of what a unitary service could look like, and that further, more 

105



detailed work would be required to arrive at a fully evidenced, preferred 
model.  

Waste Management Services  

Current 

13. In Leicestershire, the seven districts, as Waste Collection Authorities (WCAs), 
are responsible for providing kerbside collections of waste and recyclables. 
The County Council, as the Waste Disposal Authority (WDA), is responsible 
for the disposal and treatment of the waste collected by the districts.  The 
County Council also provides the network of recycling and household waste 
sites and waste transfer stations.  
 

14. In reality this means seven different kerbside waste and recycling collection 
systems operating across Leicestershire.  There is variety in collection 
frequencies (weekly or fortnightly), sizes and types of containers (bins, boxes 
and bags) and charges (for green, trade and bulky waste collections).  
 

15. The differing service across the county also extends to materials collected for 
recycling.  With the exception of glass and metal, there are significant 
differences in materials collected which in confusion for residents.  For 
example, for paper at present some district councils collect all types of 
wrapping paper while others only collect non-metallic wrapping paper and for 
shredded paper some districts require this to be wrapped separately, while 
others do not..  A number of districts collect tetra paks while others do not and 
again for plastic film, some accept plastic film while others do not.  These 
differences cause confusion if residents move between districts or have family 
and friends in different districts operating different systems.  Ultimately 
however, confusion is likely to lead to higher contamination of recyclable 
materials which will lead to higher disposal costs.  The above provides an 
illustration of the differences and complexity of waste collection.  Table 1 
illustrates the broad cross-section  of waste systems currently operating in 
Leicestershire. 
 

16. Each different collection system is also supported by different policies and 
processes, for example in relation to missed bins, side waste, assisted 
collections or charges for replacement bins.    
 

17. This can be confusing to the public and makes the provision of clear, 
consistent communication messages on a county wide basis much more 
difficult.  At present, there is no single point for residents to access information 
on waste services: the County Council, the seven districts and the 
Leicestershire Waste Partnership all provide information on waste services on 
their websites and each authority has a different telephone customer service 
line.  
 

18. The variation in collection services also means there are a significant number 
of waste contracts with different end dates and contractual terms.  This 
situation is inefficient in terms of value for money (particularly in relation to the 

106



costs of procurement and on-going contract management), does not allow for 
strategic planning and optimisation of waste collection rounds across the 
county and does not make best use of the network of waste depots and other 
infrastructure. 
 

19. There is also a significant officer resource required to manage interactions 
between the County Council and the district councils at both a strategic and 
operational level.   

What could waste services look like in a unitary authority? 

20. A unitary council would deliver consistent kerbside collection services for 
residents (e.g. collection frequencies, containers and charges), as well as 
trade waste services for businesses.  It would allow clear, simple 
communications and access to initiatives which support waste ambitions, 
maximising participation through ease of use and branding, simplifying waste 
services for Leicestershire residents.  
 

21. An example of a waste service offered by a unitary council (Durham County 
Council) is shown in table 2.  In contrast to the confusing variety of services 
as shown in Table 1, the unitary authority offers a streamlined service across 
the County area.  

 Residual Recycling Green Waste Bulky Waste 

Standard Bin 

Fortnightly 

Standard Bin 

and Box 

Fortnightly 

Standard Bin or 

Bag 

Fortnightly 

£30 

6 small items £16. 

Each additional 

small item £2.50 

3 large/DIY items 

£16. Each 

additional large 

item £5.00 

Exception items 

£32 per item 

Table 2 Durham County Council waste collection service.  

22. Residents would also benefit from a single point of access for all core waste 
services which would reduce duplication of effort on their part and be easier to 
understand. 
   

23. For example, the Durham County council waste ‘home’ page provides a single 
point of access for residents for both waste collection and disposal services, 
including: 

 Bin collections 

 Recycling 

 Household waste recycling centres 

 Garden waste collections 

107



 Missed bins 

 Bulky waste collections 
 

24. This compares to nine different websites in Leicestershire – the County 
Council, the seven district councils and the Leicestershire Waste Partnership 
– which all contain information on waste services.  

 

25. Waste policies (for example in relation to missed bins, assisted collections, 
side waste etc.) would be the same across the unitary authority area, reducing 
duplication, simplifying communications and providing consistent services for 
residents.   
 

26. A unitary council would also give opportunities to deliver a whole system 
approach to waste services offering value for money through optimising the 
configuration of waste collection rounds, making efficient use of infrastructure 
by rationalising waste depots, utilising co-location opportunities and 
maximising contractual buying power.   

 
27. There would also be opportunities to integrate other tasks such as litter, fly 

tipping and enforcement into the waste service provided by the unitary council 
allowing the services to be flexible and responsive to residents’ needs.  
 

28. A holistic waste service would enable decisions across the whole spectrum of 
waste management functions, delivering savings through the streamlining of 
management, back office systems, procurement, direct service provision and 
contract management functions, and a better customer service experience.  

 

108



Parking Services 

Current 

29. Currently the seven district councils are responsible for off street parking; the 
County Council is responsible for on street parking and residents’ parking 
schemes. The current Civil Parking Enforcement Partnership activity is 
coordinated through a Parking Board whose membership is made up of the 
County Council and seven district councils. Powers to enforce on street 
parking restrictions are currently delegated by the County Council to the 
districts with the County Council providing a processing service in respect of 
all issued penalties across the county. 
 

30. Within the current system six of the seven districts charge for the majority of 
off street parking.  Tariffs vary from district to district and different systems 
and contracts are in place to administer parking across the county. 
 

31. This can be confusing for the public as they encounter different charges and 
regulations when parking in different locations within the county.   

What could parking services look like in a unitary authority? 

32. The County Council, in its role as a Highway Authority, has a statutory duty to 
ensure the efficient movement of traffic on the roads of Leicestershire.  
Consideration of on street parking forms a part of this responsibility.  A unitary 
authority with responsibility for on and off street parking would be able to 
maximise the efficiency and availability of off street parking to support this 
statutory duty. 
 

33. A unitary authority would enable a single policy covering on and off street 
parking, applying a consistent and simpler approach for parking, permitting 
and traffic regulation.  Similarly it would also enable a consistent approach to 
parking charges, civil enforcement and appeals delivering savings across 
procurement, contract management and back office functions. 

 
34. Civil Enforcement Officer (CEO) resource could be more efficiently deployed 

with the removal of current district boundaries. 
 

35. In addition, having total control of parking would allow a more considered and 
universal approach to determine where funds are best invested, for example 
in highway or car park maintenance, or providing additional parking where this 
would complement sustainable growth. 
 

36. There would be opportunities for a unitary authority to explore the integration 
of many other aspects of street activity, for example identifying street lighting, 
sign, footway or highway defects into a revised Civil Enforcement Officer / 
inspection role. 

109



This page is intentionally left blank



Operator Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How?

In-house YES YES YES YES YES YES

Frequency: Residual / 

recycling collected on alternate 

weeks. Garden waste collected 

fortnightly (monthly Dec to Feb)

Casepak contract 

from 1.6.18 
Bottles and jars

140ltr or 240ltr 

depending on household 

size GREEN lidded 

wheeled bin (can buy 

additional space)

Drinks cans, food tins, 

empty aerosols, clean 

foil and foil trays

140ltr or 240ltr 

depending on 

household size 

GREEN lidded 

wheeled bin (can buy 

additional space)

Envelopes, junk mail, 

magazines, newspapers, 

paper, shredded paper, 

ctalogues and directories, 

wrapping paper (non metalic)

140ltr or 240ltr depending 

on household size GREEN 

lidded wheeled bin (can 

buy additional space)

Cardboard fruit & veg punnets, 

cardboard sleeves, cereal boxes, 

corrugated cardboard, egg 

boxes, tissue boxes, toilet roll 

and kitchen roll tubes, food and 

drink cartons (tetra pak)

140ltr or 240ltr depending 

on household size GREEN 

lidded wheeled bin (can buy 

additional space)

All plastic bottles, plastic food 

pots, tubs and trays, carrier 

bags, plastic cutlery. No black 

plastic, hard plastic, or plant 

pots and seed trays 

140ltr or 240ltr 

depending on 

household size 

GREEN lidded 

wheeled bin (can buy 

additional space)

Mind Bag

Operator Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How?

YES YES YES YES YES No

Frequency: Residual / 

Recycling collected on 

alternate weeks. Garden waste 

collected fortnightly (monthly 

Dec-Feb)

Casepak contract 

from 12.5.18 

Bottles and jars

240ltr GREEN Bin 

Additional recycling can 

be placed in clear sacks

Drink cans, food tins, 

empty aerosols, clean 

foil and foil trays 

240ltr GREEN Bin 

Additional recycling 

can be placed in clear 

sacks

240ltr GREEN Bin 

Additional recycling can be 

placed in clear sacks

Cardboard fruit & veg punnets, 

cardboard sleeves, cereal boxes, 

corrugated cardboard, egg 

boxes, tissue boxes, toilet roll 

and kitchen roll tubes, food and 

drink cartons (Tetra Pak), clean 

pizza boxes, flattened cardboard 

boxes (remove any tape, string, 

polystyrene)

240ltr GREEN Bin 

Additional recycling can be 

placed in clear sacks

All plastic bottles (with lids), 

plastic pots, tubs, trays and 

punnets (including lids), plastic 

packaging film, carrier bags. 

No black plastic, polystyrene, 

240ltr GREEN Bin 

Additional recycling 

can be placed in clear 

sacks

Operator Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How?

YES YES YES YES Yes NO

Frequency: Residual / 

Recycling collected on 

alternate weeks. Garden waste 

collected fortnightly

Casepak contract 

from 1.4.18 

Bottles and jars
 Blue Lidded wheeled 

bin

Drinks cans, food tins, 

empty aerosols, clean 

foil and foil trays

 Blue Lidded wheeled 

bin

Envelopes, junk mail, 

magazines, newspapers,  

paper and shredded paper, 

catalogues and directories, 

Blue Lidded wheeled bin

Cardboard fruit and veg punnets, 

cardboard sleeves, cereal boxes, 

corrugated cardboard and 

cardboard boxes, egg boxes, 

toilet roll and kitchen roll tubes, 

food and drink cartons (tetra pak) 

 Blue Lidded wheeled bin

Plastic drinks bottles, plastic 

food pots, tubs, trays and 

punnets with lids,   (No black 

plastic, plastic food packaging 

or carrier bags)

 Blue Lidded wheeled 

bin

Fortnightly

FortnightlyFortnightly Fortnightly

Fortnightly Not Collected

FortnightlyFortnightlyFortnightly

Fortnightly

Fortnightly

Fortnightly Fortnightly Fortnightly

Not Collected 

FortnightlyFortnightly

Fortnightly

111



Operator Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How?

In-house YES YES YES YES YES YES

Frequency: Residual / 

Recycling collected on 

alternate weeks. Garden waste 

collected fortnightly

Casepak contract 

from 1.4.18 

Bottles and jars Black Bin with BLUE Lid

Drinks can, food tins, 

empty aerosols, clean 

foil and foil trays

Black Bin with BLUE 

Lid

Envelopes, junk mail, paper, 

magazines, newspapers, 

paper,  shredded paper 

(wrapped to prevent it 

escaping), catalogues and 

directories, wrapping paper 

(not metalic)

Black Bin with BLUE Lid

Cardboard fruit & veg punnets, 

cardboard sleeves, cereal boxes, 

corrugated cardboard, egg 

boxes, tissue boxes, toilet roll 

and kitchen roll tubes, plain 

greeting cards, food and drink 

cartons (tetra pak)

Black Bin with BLUE Lid

Plastic bottles, Food pots, tubs, 

trays and punnets (with lids)  

bottles, Plastic trays.  No 

packaging film or carrier bags. 

No black plastic

Black Bin with BLUE 

Lid

Clothes, paired shoes, 

linen (bedding and table 

cloths), towels, curtains, 

bags and belts. Not 

duvets, quilts, cushions 

and pillows.

Red sack or 

resident can put in 

clear sack

Operator Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How?

YES YES YES YES YES YES

Frequency: Residual / 

Recycling collected on 

alternate weeks. Garden waste 

collected fortnightly

Casepak contract 

from 1.10.18 

Bottles and jars
240ltr BROWN wheeled 

bin

Drinks cans, food tins, 

clean foil and foil trays, 

empty aerosols

240ltr BROWN 

wheeled bin

Envelopes, junk mail, 

magazines, newspapers,  

paper, shredded paper, 

catalogues and directories, 

plain wrapping paper

240ltr BROWN wheeled 

bin

Cardboard fruit & veg punnets, 

cardboard sleeves, cereal boxes, 

corrugated cardboard, egg 

boxes, tissue boxes, toilet roll 

and kitchen roll tubes,  food and 

drink cartons e.g. Tetra paks

240ltr BROWN wheeled bin

Plastic bottles (with lids),  

plastic pots, tubs, trays and 

punnets (with lids). No black 

plastic.

240ltr BROWN 

wheeled bin

Carrier bag left 

next to the 

recycling bin

Operator Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How?

In-house YES YES YES YES YES YES

Frequency: Residual / 

Recycling collected on 

alternate weeks. Garden waste 

collected fortnightly

Bottles and jars 

(separate box)
55lt RED Box

Clean food tins and 

drinks cans, empty 

aerosol cans, clean foil 

and foil trays

55lt RED Box

Envelopes, junk mail, 

magazines, newspapers,  

paper, shredded paper (in a 

carrier bag to prevent it 

escaping), catalogues and 

directories, wrapping paper (all 

types). Extra paper can be 

placed in a clear plastic bag by 

the side of the blue bag.

BLUE bag

All types of flattened household 

cardboard including: cereal 

boxes, corrugated cardboard 

boxes, cardboard sleeves and 

food packaging, greeting cards, 

kitchen and toilet roll tubes. No 

food and drink cartons (tetra 

paks).

YELLOW weighted bag 

(collected on same vehile 

as the garden waste)

All plastic bottles (with lids), 

plastic pots, tubs, trays and 

punnets (including black 

plastic). No carrier bags, 

bubble wrap, polystyrene or 

packaging film

55lt RED Box

Collected on the same 

vehicle as the red boxes 

and blue bag

Clothes and 

shoes in a carrier 

bag next to the 

red box

Operator Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How?

In-house Yes YES YES YES YES No

Oadby &Wigston BC 
Frequency: Residual and 

Recycling collected weekly. 

Garden waste collected 

fortnightly

Casepak contract 

from 1.4.18 

Bottles and jars

Green wheeled bin with 

BROWN lid (additional 

bin £17)

Drinks cans, food tins, 

empty aerosols, clean 

foil and foil trays

Green wheeled bin 

with BROWN lid 

(additional bin £17)

Envelopes, Junk mail, 

Magazines, Newspapers,  

Paper and Shredded paper, 

Catalogues and directories, 

paperback books

Green wheeled bin with 

BROWN lid (additonal bin 

£17)

Cardboard fruit & veg punnets, 

Cardboard sleeves, Cereal 

boxes, Corrugated cardboard 

and Cardboard boxes, Egg 

boxes, Tissue boxes, Toilet roll 

tubes, Plain greetings cards

Green wheeled bin with 

BROWN lid (additional bin 

£17)

Plastic bottles, plastic food 

pots, tubs, trays and punnets 

(including lids) and carrier 

bags.  No packaging film, 

Black plastic, plant pots and 

seed trays. 

Green wheeled bin with 

BROWN lid (additional 

bin £17)

FORTNIGHTLY

Fortnightly Fortnightly

Fortnightly Fortnightly

Fortnightly Fortnightly

FORTNIGHTLY FortnightlyFORTNIGHTLY

Fortnightly Fortnightly Fortnightly Fortnightly

Fortnightly Fortnightly Fortnightly Fortnightly

Weekly Weekly Weekly WeeklyWeekly Not Collected

112



Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Replacement Bins

YES YES YES YES YES
Check website for 

allowable items

YES              

no charge
YES

Range of container 

sizes.  Charges vary 

depending on size of 

container provided 

Mind Bag

Clear plastic bag 

(supplied by 

resident)

 £24 for 140ltr, £36 for 

240ltr pa or £5.20 for 3 

bags

140ltr /240ltr 

BROWN lidded 

wheeled bin or 

degradeable garden 

bags

Larger residual 

waste bin available 

for annual charge    

No garden waste, no 

paint, no builders 

rubble/waste, soil or 

concrete

140ltr / 240ltr 

(depending on size 

of household) 

BLACK lidded 

wheeled bin

1-2 items £20                  

3-4 items £28                    

5-6 items £40                

7+ items book a 

quote online

Online service (or 

by phone with 

additional £2 

charge)

Clinical waste  

Request this service 

via your Health 

Centre/Doctor’s 

Surgery               

Sharps boxes 

obtained by 

prescription 

Collection on 

Thursdays for sharps 

boxes.  Request this 

service online 

through Blaby 

District Council 

website

Refuse and trade 

recycling collected

Do not charge VAT 

for businesses in the 

district 

Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Replacement Bins

No No YES YES YES
Check website for 

allowable items

YES              

no charge
YES

Wheeled bins ( 1100 

litre, 660, 240)

240ltr brown wheeled 

bin, charged at £40 pa 

by direct debit pa or £45  

No animal bedding, 

meat, fish, cooked 

foods, large branches or 

logs, metal, plastic, 

glass,  stones or gravel

240ltr BROWN 

wheeled bin

180ltr BLACK 

lidded wheeled bin

Up to 3 free 

collections a year 

(or 9 items), then 

£15 a collection

Collected on a 

Monday

Clinical waste 

arranged through 

GP or district nurse, 

either one off or 

regular collection                

Sharps boxes 

obtained by 

prescription 

Collections on 

Wednesdays               

Sharps - ring 01509 

634563 by 5pm Tues 

for collection that 

week

New service being 

launched for 

General Waste 

commercial.waste@

charnwood.gov.uk 

or 01509 634930

Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Replacement Bins

NO No YES YES YES
Check website for 

allowable items

YES                    

no charge
YES

Wheeled bins  

(1280, 1100, 770, 

360, 240) 

£40 pa                               

No Soil, turf, food waste, 

animal waste,  pet 

bedding or cardboard.

240ltr GREEN 

wheeled bin

No batteries or 

lighters

180ltr BLACK 

wheeled bin (can be 

swapped for 140ltr)

3 large items or 

12 sacks of waste 

£33 

Clinical waste by 

assessment/  

arrangment - need 

to complete an 

application form                       

Sharps boxes 

obtained through 

prescription

Sharps boxes - 

need min of 2 for 

collection

Mixed recycling 

and General Waste

Recycling montly or 

fortnightly (or weekly 

in Harborough) 

General waste 

monthly, fortnightly 

or weekly

Trade

As arranged

online form for requesting 

replacement bins.  Lost, missing 

or damaged - charge usually 

made. Damaged during 

collection - no charge

As arranged

Replace broken black bins with 

180 litre bins (no charge).  

Individual circumstances will be 

looked at when requesting an 

additional black bin.  The 

additional bin will be 180 litres.

Bins damaged through normal 

wear and tear are replaced free 

of charge. Charge of £30 for a 

new bin if damaged deliberately.

As arrangedAs arranged 

As arranged

Not collected

Not collected

Fortnightly

Fortnightly

FortnightlyNot collected 

Fortnightly

Not Collected

Green waste Residual

FortnightlyFortnightly

Fortnightly

Fortnightly

Clinical

As arranged

Bulky Waste

As Arranged

113



Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Replacement Bins

No No YES YES YES
Check website for 

allowable items

YES           no 

charge
YES

Wheeled bins (1100 

litre, 660 litre, 240 

litre)

£24 pa for 240ltr or 

140ltr Brown wheeled 

bin   No soil, turf, treated 

wood, garden tools, 

food or animal waste, 

general waste, 

cardboard, slabs, 

stones or rubble 

240ltr or 140 ltr 

BROWN wheeled 

bin

240ltr BLACK 

wheeled bin

1-3 items £15                  

4-5 items £25,               

then an extra £6 

per item

Clinical waste 

collections set up  

through GP or 

district nurse.               

Needles/sharps 

boxes obtained on 

prescription. 

Sharps boxes 

collected on a Weds 

between 7am and 

4pm (can arrange 

specific time). Need 

min of 3 for collection 

or take to Jubilee Bld 

LE10 3DU

Mixed recycling 

and General Waste

Recycling and 

General waste 

either weekly or 

fortnightly 

Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Replacement Bins

Yes No YES YES YES
Check website for 

allowable items

YES               

no charge
NO

Carrier bag left 

next to the 

recycling bin

Green waste club - 

£57/year or £4.75/month

240ltr Green 

wheeled bin

240ltr BLACK 

wheeled bin

1 item £18.70                      

2-5 items £31,                

5+ add an extra 

£9 for each 

additional item    

White goods 

(fridge/freezer) 

£25.60 for one and 

then £31 up to 5 

items                  

discounts for some 

benefits

Clinical waste 

collections set up 

through GP or 

district nurse                 

Sharps boxes 

obtained on 

prescription

Ring 01664 502502 

to register for 

Sharps box 

collection. 

Collections usually 

quarterly 

Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Replacement Bins

No NO YES YES YES
Check website for 

allowable items

YES               

no charge
YES

Choice of bins 

offered depending 

on needs

240ltr bin is available on 

request (no additonal 

charge)

240ltr BROWN 

lidded wheeled bin

180ltr BLACK 

wheeled bin

1-3 items £23        

4 items £28,       5 

items £33,           

6 items £38

Yellow clinical waste 

sacks and yellow 

sharps boxes. 

Sacks and boxes 

supplied by the NHS

Collect on Tuesdays - 

this needs to be 

arranged by the 

Friday before. 

Collection can be 

arranged by calling 

01530 45 45 45

Refuse and 

recycling 

collections.  All 

collections priced on 

a standard weekly 

cost.Call  01530 454 

584

Collection normally 

weekly but can be 

changed depending 

on requirements

Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Collected? How? Replacement Bins

No NO YES YES YES
Check website for 

allowable items

YES             

no charge
register online NO

1 x 240ltr or 2 x 140ltr 

for £35 pa. Additonal 

bins charged at £20               

No cardboard, metal, 

plastic, food or animal 

waste, soil, bricks, 

rubble or general waste

240ltr or 140ltr 

GREEN wheeled 

bin 

3 x 40ltr black bags  

or 1 x 80 ltr dustbin 

and 1 x 40 ltr black 

bag   No metal, 

plastic, cardboard, 

food or animal 

waste, hazardous 

waste, glass, sharp 

objects, soil, bricks 

or rubble

40ltr BLACK bags 

(supplied by 

council)  or 80ltr 

dustbins 

(purchased by 

householder

1 item £21,                   

each additional 

item is an extra 

£4

Clinical waste 

collected at request 

of medical 

profession.  Sharps 

boxes service 

obtained by 

prescription. 

Currently recycling bins are 

replaced free of charge if lost or 

stolen.  

Currently collect residual waste 

in black sacks.  

Not Collected

New residents and new builds 

charged £24                                 

Replacement bins not charged if 

only once in 5 year period 

To be updated from October 

2018

As arranged 

Fortnightly

Fortnightly

No charge for extra recycling 

containers. Charge of £25 for 

refuse bin if damaged 

deliberately, otherwise no 

charge to replace. 

As arranged

Not Collected

Not Collected

Fortnightly

Not Collected

Not Collected

Fortnighty

Not Collected

Not Collected weeklyNot Collected

Fortnightly

Fortnightly

Fortnightly

Fortnightly As arranged

As arranged

As arranged

As arranged

As arranged

114


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 11 October 2018.
	8 Risk Based Management Approach.
	9 Update on the Implementation of the Revised Funding Methodology for Community Transport.
	Appendix A - Community Transport
	Appendix B - Community Transport

	10 Annual Performance Report 2017/18.
	Appendix A Annual report Dashboards 1&2
	Appendix B  Draft Annual Report summaries for ET

	11 The Development of a Unitary Structure for Local Government in Leicestershire.
	Appendix E - Environment and Transport
	Appendix E - Environment and Transport Table 1


